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CORPORATE 
PROFILE

The Group is engaged in investment holding 

property businesses in PRC. Currently, it is 

engaged in:

 the ownership of The Westin Bund Center 

Shanghai, a five-star hotel in Shanghai 
that is currently managed by Westin Hotel 

Management, L.P.; and

 the ownership and management of 

commercial and retail properties, namely 

the Bund Center Office Tower in Shanghai 
and the Golden Center, a six-storey retail 
complex in Ningbo, Zhejiang Province, PRC.

(a)

(b)
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HEAVENLY STAIRCASE
WESTIN BUND CENTER SHANGHAI
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Listed on the Singapore Exchange on 30 June 2010, the 
Group owns The Bund Center and Golden Center.

THE BUND CENTER, SHANGHAI
The Bund Center, spanning approximately 189,100 sq ft, 
Zas coPpleted in �00� and coPprised our 2ffice 7oZer� 
our Hotel, a podium which contained several retail outlets 
and a carpark.

Our Office Tower
2ur 2ffice 7oZer Zith a total gross Áoor area of appro[iPately 
1,414,600 sq ft, comprises 43 storeys (including podium) of 
prePiuP office prePises� %eing one of the tallest structures 
in the Bund skyline and its crown rooftop, it is now an iconic 
landmark on the Bund.

,n �00�� our 2ffice 7oZer Zas aZarded the Shanghai 
Magnolia award for excellent engineering and construction 
and in �00�� our 2ffice 7oZer receiYed the F,A%C, Pri[ 
d·([cellence AZard� ,n SeptePEer �005� our 2ffice 7oZer 
Zas naPed ´7op 7en %est 2ffice %uilding in Chinaµ Ey 
China Business Newspaper (中国经营报).

2ur 2ffice 7oZer has Paintained a high aYerage annual 
occupancy of aEoYe 90� in the last eleYen years and 
continues to command premium rental rates. Key 
adYantages of our 2ffice 7oZer are its strategic location� 
which is at the center of the prestigious Shanghai Bund, 
Super Grade A Tuality of the Euilding and the conYenience 
of haYing a leading hotel in the saPe property� 2ur 2ffice 
Tower also provides added facilities and services to our 
tenants� including operating free shuttle Eus serYices to the 
Pain puElic transport huE� proYiding concierge serYices� 
laundry pickup, cleaning and collection services, indoor air 
quality system and a new staff cafeteria. In addition, our 
2ffice 7oZer has in place stringent security Peasures such 
as card access security gates and round-the-clock patrol 
dogs that are trained in detecting explosive materials.
 
Our Hotel
7he fiYe�star :estin %und Center Shanghai is strategically 
located in the historic and Pagnificent %und area� at the 
center of the commercial area of Shanghai and easily 
accessiEle to our 2ffice 7oZer� conYention centers� lu[ury 
Eranded shops and celeErated restaurants in the %und area�

2ur +otel Zhich coPprising tZo ���storey toZers Zith aEout 
570 tastefully decorated guest rooPs� is currently one of the 
Áagship international hotels in Shanghai� ,t is also one of 
the hotels that are frequently involved in staging large scale 
corporate and fashion events in Shanghai. Our Hotel hosted 
Pany high profile eYents for Pany renoZned international 
Erands� including fashion shoZs� gala eYents� product 
launches� international ElocNEuster PoYies prePieres� as 
well as provided catering services for numerous high-end 
Potor Yehicle Erands at the AutoshoZ�

Since its opening in 2002, our Hotel has won many 
accolades and has estaElished itself as a Zorld class 
lu[ury hotel offering prePiuP serYices� ,t has Eeen 
recogni]ed consistently Ey inÁuential gloEal puElications 
as an outstanding hotel. Our reputation for excellent 
dining e[perience has Eeen acNnoZledged� Zith 
nuPerous significant industry and culinary aZards and 
acclaim received.

GOLDEN CENTER, NINGBO
7he Golden Center coPple[ Zith a total gross Áoor area 
of 1�93��800 sT ft is deYeloped Ey the Group� 7he Zhole 
complex consists of a 6-storey Golden Center retail 
coPple[� a 3��storey NingEo Financial Center office toZer 
� the headTuarter of NingEo People·s %anN of China and 
a 5��storey lu[urious residential toZer� ´RiYiere Mansionµ 
- the tallest residential tower in Zhejiang province then. It is 
strategically located in the central Eusiness district area of 
NingEo� at the south Zest side of the Munction of =hongshan 
(ast Road and -iangdong North Road facing the entrance 
of -iang[ia %ridge in -iangdong 'istrict of NingEo� Zhich 
is one of the PaMor Eridges connecting -iangdong 'istrict 
to the centre of Haishu District. This locality, known as 
Sanjiangkou (three estuaries), is a popular commercial and 
retail area.

The Group currently owns the Golden Center six-level retail 
coPple[ Zith a total gross Áoor area of 3�0��00 sT ft� ,t has 
estaElished a reputation for itself as a high Tuality shopping 
center in NingEo� offering a coPprehensiYe shopping 
experience with a wide variety of shopping outlets selling 
consuPer goods including renoZned international Erands� 
Accordingly� Golden Center has Paintained a reasonaEle 
aYerage occupancy of aEoYe 80� in the last nine years�



04

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

BUND CENTER
INVESTMENT LTD

HONG KONG/CHINA OTHERS

Casleton International 
Limited100%

Handful Resources 
Limited100%

Smart 
Investment Ltd100%

Primewyn Management 
& Services Pte Ltd100%

Ningbo Zhonghua 
Land Co., Ltd89.21%

Ningbo Golden 
Department Store Co., Ltd

Koon Chung 
Limited100%

Shanghai Golden Bund 
Real Estate Co., Ltd96.79%

89.21%
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Name and Location of 

Mixed Development
Tenure

Site Area

(sq ft)

Gross Floor

Area (sq ft)

Lettable 

Rooms/

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Valuation

The Bund Center:
An integrated development
compromising:

50-year
lease till 2045

189,100 2,050,700 RMB8,795 million (1)

(S$1,829 million)

(a) Hotel
Located at 88 Henan Road

Central, Huangpu District

Shanghai 200002, PRC

636,100 570 rooms RMB2,794 million (1)

(S$581 million)

(b) Office Tower
Located at 222 Yanan Road

East, Huangpu District

Shanghai 200002, PRC

1,414,600 872,600 RMB6,001 million (1)

(S$1,248 million)

Golden Center 66,500 340,600 168,300 RMB818 million (2)

(S$170 million)

(a) Golden Center, Ningbo
A 6-storey retail complex.

Located at 279 Zhongshan

Road East, Jiangdong District, 

Ningbo City 315040,  

Zhejiang Province, PRC

50-year

lease till 2045

65,700 295,400 131,900

(b) Annex to Golden Center 40-year 

lease till 2033

800 45,200 36,400

Grand Total
RMB9,613 million
(S$1,999 million)

Notes:

(1)  Valuation as assessed by the independent valuers, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited as at 15 February 2017.

(2) Valuation derived from valuation as assessed by the independent valuers, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited as at 15 February 2017.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR. FRANKLE WIDJAJA is the Executive Chairman and 
Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer of %und Center ,nYestPent /td �´%C,µ 
or the ´CoPpanyµ�� +e Zas appointed as a 'irector of %C, 
in SeptePEer �009� and his last re�election as a 'irector 
Zas in �015� As ([ecutiYe ChairPan and Chief ([ecutiYe 
2fficer� Mr� FranNle :idMaMa oYersees the Eusiness� sets the 
strategies and leads the overall management of the BCI 
Group� +e is also priParily responsiEle for all aspects of the 
Group·s +otel� 2ffice 7oZer and Golden Center� including 
the ongoing evaluation, investment and improvement of the 
aforesaid properties. He took charge of the China property 
Eusiness in Shanghai and NingEo since 199��

Mr� FranNle :idMaMa� aged �0� graduated froP the 8niYersity 
of California� %erNeley� 8SA Zith a degree of %achelor of 
Science in 1978� 

Mr� FranNle :idMaMa has e[tensiYe PanagePent and 
operational e[perience and� since 1979� he has Eeen 
involved in the management and operations of pulp and 
paper� financial serYices� food and agriculture and real estate 
Eusinesses� FroP the Pid�eighties to the early nineties� Mr� 
FranNle :idMaMa had held Yarious senior positions including 
that as the +ead of Property 'eYelopPent� P7 'uta PertiZi 
7EN� President of seYeral factories for pulp and paper 
and agri�Eusiness� and assuPed responsiEilities for the 
e[pansion of the paper Eusiness� Mr� FranNle :idMaMa Zas 
preYiously a 'irector of SinarPas /and /iPited �´SM/µ� until 
he retired froP SM/ Eoard of directors in April �01� to focus 
on his current appointments.  

,n 1999� Mr� FranNle :idMaMa Zas appointed as a 'irector 
of Golden Agri�Resources /td �´GARµ� Zhere he holds a 
non�e[ecutiYe function since 'ecePEer �00�� Presently� 
Mr� FranNle :idMaMa also sits on the Eoards of seYeral 
suEsidiaries of %C,� GAR and SM/� %oth GAR and SM/ 
are listed on the 2fficial /ist of the Singapore ([change 
Securities Trading Limited.

Since 1998� Mr� FranNle :idMaMa has Eeen the 'irector of 
Eoth the Shanghai 2Yerseas Friendship Association and 
the Shanghai 2Yerseas ([change Association� +e Zas 
the Deputy Chairman of the Shanghai Overseas Chinese 
ChaPEer of CoPPerce� Mr� FranNle :idMaMa Zas aZarded 
the 7hird Shanghai Charity Star Special AZards in �008� the 
7op 7en 2Yerseas Chinese AZard in �007� the FiYe Star 
'iaPond AZard in �00�� the Shanghai Magnolia +onoraEle 
AZard in �00�� and the Shanghai Magnolia MePorial AZard 
in �00�� +e is an honorary citi]en of NingEo City�

FRANKLE (DJAFAR) WIDJAJA
Executive Chairman and 
Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer
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MR. FRANKY WIDJAJA is a Non-Executive Director of 
%C, and a PePEer of its NoPinating and RePuneration 
CoPPittees� +e Zas appointed as a 'irector in SeptePEer 
2009, and his last re-election as a Director was in 2016. 

Mr� FranNy :idMaMa� aged 59� graduated froP AoyaPa GaNuin 
8niYersity of -apan Zith a %achelor·s degree in CoPPerce 
in 1979� Mr� FranNy :idMaMa has e[tensiYe PanagePent and 
operational e[perience� and since 198�� has Eeen inYolYed 
Zith different Eusinesses including agricultural� property� 
chePical� telecoPPunication� financial serYices and pulp 
and paper.   

Mr� FranNy :idMaMa also sits on the Eoard of directors of 
Golden Agri�Resources /td �´GARµ� and SinarPas /and 
/iPited �´SM/µ�� Eoth listed on the 2fficial /ist of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. He has 
Eeen a 'irector and the Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer of GAR 
since 199�� and the ChairPan of GAR since �000� Mr� 
FranNy :idMaMa has also Eeen a 'irector of SM/ since 1997� 
and the Executive Chairman of SML since 2006.

Mr� FranNy :idMaMa is a PePEer of the Eoards of seYeral 
suEsidiaries of %C,� GAR and SM/� Since �003� he has 
Eeen the President CoPPissioner of P7 Sinar Mas Agro 
Resources and 7echnology 7EN� a suEsidiary of GAR listed 
on the Indonesia Stock Exchange. 

Currently� Mr� FranNy :idMaMa is the Co�ChairPan of 
Partnership for ,ndonesia SustainaEle Agriculture 
�´P,SAgroµ�� Co�Chair of :orld (conoPic ForuP �´:(Fµ�� 
GroZ Asia� and he is a PePEer of :(F� GloEal Agenda 
7rustee for :orld Food Security and Agriculture Sector� 
9ice ChairPan of the ,ndonesian ChaPEer of CoPPerce 
and ,ndustry �´.A',Nµ� for AgriEusiness� Food and 
Forestry Sector� and a PePEer of the AdYisory %oard of the 
,ndonesian PalP 2il Association �´GAP.,µ��

PreYiously� froP �007 to �015� Mr� FranNy :idMaMa Zas 9ice 
President CoPPissioner of P7 %uPi Serpong 'aPai 7EN 
and P7 'uta PertiZi 7EN� and he Zas also 9ice President 
CoPPissioner of P7 Puradelta /estari 7EN until his 
resignation in May �01�� all suEsidiaries of SM/ listed on 
the Indonesia Stock Exchange.

MRS. DEBORAH WIDJAJA-SHIH was appointed as an 
Executive Director of BCI in May 2012, and was promoted 
as 'eputy Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer on � March �015� +er last 
re-election as a Director was in 2016. 

Mrs� 'eEorah :idMaMa�Shih� aged 33� graduated Magna CuP 
/aude Zith a %achelor of Arts degree froP the 8niYersity 
of Southern California� /os Angeles� 8SA� in 'ecePEer 
�00�� Mrs� 'eEorah :idMaMa�Shih Zas a 8SC Renaissance 
Scholar douEle PaMoring in ,nternational Relations and 
Communication with a minor in Cinema-Television. During 
her undergraduate studies, she was on the Dean’s list for six 
sePesters and a PePEer of tZo National +onors Societies� 
Alpha /aPda 'elta and /aPda Pi (ta� and Zas aZarded 
tZo 2utstanding /eadership AZards froP the ,nternational 
Students· AssePEly� After graduating froP uniYersity� she 
enrolled in the NeZ <orN FilP AcadePy in �007� and had 
Zritten� directed� and produced four short filPs�

Mrs� 'eEorah :idMaMa�Shih is currently an ([ecutiYe 'irector 
and 'eputy Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer of Shanghai Golden 
%und Real (state Co�� /td� �´SG%µ�� a suEsidiary of %C,� 
Since 2010, she has held senior management positions in 
SG%� Prior to Moining SG% as a Personal Assistant to the 
([ecutiYe ChairPan in �010� Mrs� 'eEorah :idMaMa�Shih 
undertook various work experience/research internship 
positions at the Singapore Economic Development Board 
and at 7he :estin %und Center Shanghai� Zhere she 
oEtained PanagePent trainee e[perience in the areas of 
PuElic Relations� Sales 	 MarNeting� Food 	 %eYerage and 
Finance� as Zell as led ParNeting initiatiYes to launch the 
grand opening of the new hotel tower.

Deborah Widjaja
Executive Director and 

'eputy Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer

Franky Oesman Widjaja
Non-Executive Director
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MR. CHEW YOW FOO is an Executive Director and the Chief 
Financial 2fficer of %C,� +e Zas appointed as a 'irector in 
SeptePEer �009 and his last re�election as a 'irector Zas 
in �01�� Mr� CheZ sits on the Eoards of seYeral suEsidiaries 
of BCI.

Mr� CheZ� aged 57� holds a M%A froP the 8niYersity of 
'urhaP �'unelP� and a %SSc �+ons� in Accounting Zith 
(conoPics froP the 4ueens 8niYersity of %elfast �48%�� 8.� 

Mr� CheZ Moined SM/ group as Chief ,nternal Auditor for 
its PRC property Eusiness in �00�� ,n �007� he Zas re�
designated as Chief Financial 2fficer for its property 
Eusiness in the PRC and Singapore�  

Before he joined SML group, Mr. Chew was a general 
manager and the head of the property investment division 
at Sichuan Veritas Investment Consulting (Singapore) Co. 
Ltd., a company which provides consultation services in 
property deYelopPent� froP -anuary �005 to April �00�� 

FroP 2ctoEer �00� to 'ecePEer �00�� Mr� CheZ Zas 
an acting president and financial controller at Shanghai 
Firstreach Real (state 'eYelopPent Co�� /td�� a real estate 
deYelopPent coPpany located in the Putuo district of 
Shanghai� %etZeen 2ctoEer 1995 and 2ctoEer �00�� Mr� 
CheZ Zas Zith Anastoria Sdn %hd� a coPpany inYolYed 
in the property deYelopPent Eusiness of residential and 
coPPercial proMects in Malaysia� Zhere he Zas a finance 
Panager froP 2ctoEer 1995 to -uly 1997 and a regional 
Panager �in charge of the northern regional office� froP 
August 1997 to 2ctoEer �00��

Prior to 1995� Mr� CheZ Zas inYolYed in financial and 
PanagePent accounting� corporate finance� treasury 
PanagePent� Eudget and costing� auditing� ta[ation and 
corporate secretarial matters in the manufacturing industry.

MR. LIM JUN XIONG, STEVEN is the Lead Independent 
'irector of %C,� ChairPan of %C,·s Audit CoPPittee� and 
a PePEer of its NoPinating CoPPittee and RePuneration 
CoPPittee� Mr� /iP has Eeen a 'irector of the CoPpany 
since SeptePEer �009� and his last re�election as a 'irector 
was in 2016. 

Mr. Lim, aged 61, holds a Bachelor of Commerce majoring 
in Accounting and Finance froP the 8niYersity of NeZcastle� 
Australia� Mr� /iP is a FelloZ PePEer of CPA Australia� 
the ,nstitute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a 
PePEer of the Society of 7rusts and (state Practitioners� 
Mr� /iP currently proYides consultancy adYice in the field of 
gloEal Zealth solutions� 

Mr� /iP Zas the Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer of SG 7rust �Asia� 
/td� a Zholly�oZned suEsidiary and fiduciary serYices arP 
of Societe Generale PriYate %anN that proYides Zealth 
management, estate and succession planning services 
until 2ctoEer �01�� Prior to this� he Zas the Managing 
'irector and suEseTuently a Senior Consultant at +S%C 
PriYate %anN �Suisse� SA GloEal :ealth Solutions�  Mr� /iP 
started his career at PriceZaterhouseCoopers� 
 
Presently� Mr� /iP is an ,ndependent 'irector of Mirach 
Energy Limited, Lead Independent Director of Keong 
Hong Holdings Limited, Non-Executive Chairman and 
Independent Director of Sapphire Corporation Limited, 
and Non�([ecutiYe and ,ndependent 'irector of +ong FoN 
Corporation /iPited� all of Zhich are listed on the 2fficial 
List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. 

Lim Jun Xiong, Steven
Lead Independent Director 

and Chairman of 
Audit CoPPittee

Chew Yow Foo
Executive Director and 
Chief Financial 2fficer
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MR. WILLY SHEE PING YAH @ SHEE PING YAN is an 
Independent Director of BCI, Chairman of BCI’s Nominating 
CoPPittee and a PePEer of its Audit CoPPittee and 
RePuneration CoPPittee� +e has Eeen a 'irector of the 
CoPpany since FeEruary �010� and his last re�election 
as a 'irector Zas in �01�� +e sits on the Eoard of %C,·s 
suEsidiary� Shanghai Golden %und Real (state Co�� /td� 

Mr� Shee� aged �8� holds a 'iploPa in 8rEan 9aluation 
froP the 8niYersity of AucNland� NeZ =ealand �under 
the ColoPEo Plan Scholarship 19�8�70�� +e is a FelloZ 
MePEer of the Singapore ,nstitute of SurYeyors and 
9aluers� a FelloZ MePEer of the Association of Property 
and Facility Managers and an associate PePEer of the 
NeZ =ealand Property ,nstitute �forPerly NnoZn as the NeZ 
Zealand Institute of Valuers). Mr Shee is a Licensed Estate 
Agent in Singapore and a full PePEer of the Singapore 
Institute of Directors. 
 
Mr Shee is currently Senior AdYisor to C%R( Pte /td and 
C%R( Realty Associates Pte /td haYing assuPed a non�
e[ecutiYe role after stepping doZn as the ChairPan� Asia 
of C%R( Pte /td in -uly �01�� FroP 1991 to -une �005� Mr� 
Shee Zas the Panaging director of C% Richard (llis �Pte� 
/td� Singapore office� and Zas responsiEle for its groZth 
and overall operations.

2ther Eoards Zhich Mr� Shee sits on include N78C 
Fairprice Co�operatiYe /td� Mercatus Co�operatiYe /td and 
.eppel /and /iPited� +e is also the ChairPan of Ascendas�
SingEridge GiYes Foundation�

MR. DAVID YEOW is an Independent Director of BCI, 
ChairPan of %C,·s RePuneration CoPPittee and a PePEer 
of its Audit CoPPittee and NoPinating CoPPittee� +e has 
Eeen a 'irector of the CoPpany since FeEruary �010� and 
his last re�election as a 'irector Zas in �015� 

Mr� <eoZ� aged 5�� graduated froP the National 8niYersity 
of Singapore with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree. 
Mr� <eoZ is an AdYocate and Solicitor of the SuprePe 
Court of Singapore� +e is a Senior Partner and �since 
1999� also an e[ecutiYe coPPittee PePEer of RaMah 	 
7ann Singapore //P�

Mr. Yeow is presently also an Independent and Non-
([ecutiYe 'irector of NoEle Group /iPited� a coPpany 
listed on the 2fficial /ist of the Singapore ([change 
Securities Trading Limited.

Willy Shee Ping Yah 
@ Shee Ping Yan

Independent Director and 
Chairman of Nominating 

Committee

David Yeow
Independent Director and 

ChairPan of RePuneration 
Committee
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

2n Eehalf of the %oard of 'irectors� it is Py pleasure to 
present the annual report of Bund Center Investment Ltd 
�´%C,µ or the ´CoPpanyµ and together Zith its suEsidiaries 
the ´Groupµ� for the financial year ended 31 'ecePEer 
�01� �´F<�01�µ�  

GROUP PERFORMANCE
'espite the challenging Eusiness enYironPent and increased 
in office and hotel supply during the financial year� the Group 
achieYed a crediEle operating perforPance Zith a net profit 
attriEutaEle to oZners of the CoPpany of S��7�3 Pillion� 
7he Group recorded a reYenue of S�1�9�3 Pillion� Zith an 
(%,7'A of S�70�� Pillion and total profit S��8�� Pillion� 

7he %und Center� Zhich consists of 2ffice 7oZer and the 
:estin %und Center Shanghai +otel� rePains the Pain 
contriEutor to the Group·s operating results� 

7he Group·s reYenue is loZered Ey 8� to S�1�9�3 Pillion 
priParily affected Ey the translation effect of ZeaNening of 
Chinese RenPinEi �´RM%µ� against Singapore dollar and 
lower leasing income. The translation effect has resulted in 
a 3�8� decrease in hotel reYenue froP S��8�7 Pillion to 
S����1 Pillion in F<�01�� 

,n terPs of RM%� hotel operations reported higher reYenue 
of RM%318 Pillion as coPpared to RM%313�8 Pillion in 
the preYious financial year� 7he hotel operations Panaged 
to achieYe a higher aYerage occupancy rate of 8��7� as 

“THE GROUP ACHIEVED A 
COMMENDABLE OPERATING 
PERFORMANCE WITH A NET 

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY OF 

S$27.3 MILLION. THE GROUP 
RECORDED A REVENUE OF 

S$129.3 MILLION, WITH AN 
EBITDA OF S$70.4 MILLION 

FOR FY2016.”
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against the preYious financial year of 80�3� Zith a high 
aYerage daily rate of RM%1���0 Zhich is higher than the 
fiYe�star hotel aYerage in Shanghai� folloZing the higher 
demand from increased tourist arrivals in Shanghai.

/easing incoPe decreased to S��3�� Pillion� Painly 
attriEutaEle to loZer aYerage leasing occupancy rate for 
Eoth %und Center 2ffice 7oZer and NingEo Golden Center� 
The operating environment for leasing segment remains 
coPpetitiYe in YieZ of the increased supply in office and 
retail spaces. Nonetheless, the Group managed to maintain 
a high average leasing occupancy rate for the Bund Center 
2ffice 7oZer at 9��5� in F<�01� as coPpared to 93�1� in 
the preYious financial year�

As at 31 'ecePEer �01�� the Group reduced its total 
liaEilities froP S�10��7 Pillion to S��9�7 Pillion� Zhich Zas 
Painly due to reduction in total EorroZings folloZing the 
repayPent of EanN EorroZings Pade� 

Cash and cash eTuiYalents decreased to S��0�� Pillion 
as at 31 'ecePEer �01� Painly due to cash used for 
repayPent of EorroZings and payPent for diYidends� 
partially offset Ey cash generated froP operating actiYities 
during the current financial year�

7he staEle cash inÁoZs alloZ the Group to Paintain a strong 
financial position and a high leYel of financial Áe[iEility to 
sei]e opportunities Zhen aYailaEle� 

OUTLOOK 
The operating environment in China is expected 
to continue to Ee challenging� :e Zill rePain 
cautiously optimistic and will continue to enhance our 
coPpetitiYeness Ey enhancing our serYice leYel and 
iPproYing our cost efficiency in the Group·s Eusiness 
operation in office leasing and hotel in China� 

APPRECIATION 
, Zish to thanN our shareholders� Eusiness associates� 
customers and community for the continued support, and 
e[press Py appreciation to Py felloZ %oard PePEers� 
PanagePent and staff for their dedication and contriEution 
toZard the Group·s sustainaEle groZth�   

FRANKLE (DJAFAR) WIDJAJA
Executive Chairman

16 March 2017

TOTAL EQUITY (S$’MIL)

2016

429.9

2014

438.5

2015

478.8

REVENUE (RMB’MIL)

Leasing

Hotel
2014

629.4

295.6

333.8

2015

641.9

313.8

328.1

2016

622.1

318.0

304.1
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

OFFICE 
Bund Center Office Tower
7he %und Center 2ffice 7oZer continued to enMoy its 
prominent position as a Shanghai landmark and one 
of the Eest Super Grade A office Euildings in Shanghai 
since �00�� :ith its location in the historically faPous 
Eund area �´the %undµ� or PaMor central Eusiness district 
�´C%'µ� in Pu[i and offering the conYeniences of the fiYe�
star :estin %und Center Shanghai hotel� %und Center 
2ffice 7oZer has alZays Eeen recognised as one of the 
Post prestigious office Euildings serYing Zorld renoZned 
multinational corporations.

'uring the financial year �01�� 13 reneZal deals and 1� neZ 
deals Zere achieYed� Morrison� +erEert SPith� %ird 	 %ird 
and SePEcorp Zere aPong those leading tenants Eeing 
successfully retained in %und Center� :ith its Pagnificent 
croZn rooftop� the Euilding is also one of the tallest 
structures in the Bund skyline, offering international standard 
high�Tuality office space� 7he property PanagePent of the 
Euilding is perforPed Ey Colliers ,nternational and the PaMor 
tenants of the Euilding include Pulti�national coPpanies 
such as Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Norwegian Consulate, 
South African Consulate� MitsuEishi� PillsEury� +erEert 
SPith and CMA�

,n spite of this increasing office spaces supply� %und Center 
2ffice 7oZer has successfully achieYed its leasing rate to 
9��5�� resulted froP sustained dePand froP Pultinational 
and doPestic coPpanies for office space� 

Facilities and serYices iPproYePent rePain as the top 
priority and Post iPportant oEMectiYes of the Euilding 
operations and management. On the services aspect, the 
property management team continued to make progress 
in areas such as the tenant moving-in–and-out process, 
faulty reporting center, tenant renovations, customer 
communication, relationship and services, new car-park 
management system, upgraded indoor air quality system, 
neZ staff cafeteria etc� Shuttle�Eus and concierge serYice 
rePain as the Post recogni]aEle features of all serYices in 
Bund Center. In addition, we have also held prominent short-
terP eYents and e[hiEitions in the loEEy in collaEoration Zith 
tenants· Eusiness and proPotion actiYities� 7he concierge 
counter continued to provide tenants and visitors’ premium 
serYices Zhich are norPally aYailaEle in hotel� 

7he EasePent staff cafeteria has also suEstantially uplifted 
the corporate image of Bund Center, offering tenants a 
Zide Yariety of affordaEle and conYenient food options� All 
these upgrades have enriched the quality of our services 
and facilities provided, as well as given us a distinctive 
adYantage oYer our coPpetitors� hence Eoosting our 
presence and YisiEility aPidst an increasing supply of office 
space in the corporate real estate leasing market. 

On facilities aspect, the property management team 
has adopted a more proactive approach in facilities up-
keeping and maintenance to ensure Bund Center always 
look and feel new.  
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

HOTEL
The Westin Bund Center Shanghai
Since its opening in �00�� 7he :estin %und Center 
Shanghai has Zon Pany accolades and estaElished itself 
as a world class hotel offering premium services. The hotel 
is a proPinent landParN near the %und� ,t has 570 tastefully 
decorated guestrooPs including �5 suites ranging EetZeen 
60 m² to 249 m².

All rooPs are designed to proYide guests Zith reMuYenating 
experience and are equipped with an upgraded air 
conditioning filtration systeP that Zill reduce 75� of PM��5 
particles and allergens from the outdoors. The hotel also 
receiYed its 2utside Catering SerYice Certificate issued 
Ey the Shanghai Food and 'rug 'epartPent in �01�� and 
is the first fiYe�star hotel in +uangpu district� Shanghai to 
gain such approYal� :ith 18�� Pò of Peeting and EanTuet 
space supported Ey audio�Yideo facilities� the hotel has 
receiYed nuPerous significant industry and culinary aZards 
and acclaims in 2016, as in previous years. 

7he :estin %und Center Shanghai is a Áagship hotel 
and one of the Post stylish and popular Euildings on the 
Shanghai skyline.

The hotel continues to receive many international hotel 
aZards including Eeing Yoted ´No�5 in the 7op +otels in 
Chinaµ Ey Conde Nast 7raYeler Reader·s Choice AZards 
�01�� ´Reader·s Choice AZardµ Ey 7raYel � /eisure �01� 
China 7raYel AZards� ´%est %usiness +otel in Shanghaiµ 
Ey 77G China 7raYel AZards �01�� ´7he %est :edding 
9enue +otel AZardµ Ey City 7raYeler %est +otel AZards� 
´%est +otel %runchµ Ey City :eeNend� 7hat·s Shanghai 
and Time Out.

These recognitions further reinforces the hotel’s 
reputation for offering guests the highest levels of service 
coPplePented Ey a contePporary design�

Despite increasing competition from new hotels in Shanghai, 
the hotel achieved an improvement in average occupancy 
to 8��7� as against the preYious financial year of 80�3�� ,t 
also achieYed a high aYerage daily rate of RM%1���0 Zhich 
is higher than the aYerage fiYe�star hotel in Shanghai� 7he 
hotel continued to shoZ significant iPproYePent in terP of 
guest satisfaction and employee engagement index scores 
according to professional independent surveys engaged 
Ey StarZood +otels 	 Resorts�
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

RETAIL
GOLDEN CENTER, NINGBO
GiYen the Yery coPpetitiYe retail Eusiness enYironPent� 
the neZ supply of large scale Pega�Palls Eoth in the 
mid-high and upscale markets has intensely led to a 
greater degree of coPpetitiYe pressures than eYer Eefore 
in NingEo retail industry�

Nonetheless, Golden Center will strategize to maintain 
product lines and selectiYe reputaEle tenants Zith Eusiness 
tracN records� 7enants such as RuEiaP� 2G� Marco A]ali� 
StarEucNs Zill Ee retained and the CoPpany continue 
to attract neZ custoPers Ey haYing uniTue products 
assortPent� offering Eetter serYices than coPpetitors and 
Ey offering loyal custoPers loyalty cards and Peeting 
customers’ needs. 

Going forward, the retail environment will continue to 
Ee Puch tougher� eYen Pore difficult and full of ParNet 
challenges� not only to NingEo Golden Center Eut also 
our coPpetitors in NingEo� arising Painly froP popular 
trend of on-line shopping, over-supply of shopping malls 
and NingEo Chinese Municipal GoYernPent infrastructure 
project amidst the sluggish macro economy of China.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

OUTLOOK FOR 2017
The operating environment in China is expected to continue 
to Ee challenging and the Group Zill continue to driYe on 
yield strategy and iPproYe cost efficiency to enhance the 
operating performance and its market share. 

7he approYal of the hotel 2utside Catering SerYice Certificate 
issued Ey the Shanghai Food and 'rug 'epartPent in �01� 
has further enhanced its competitive advantages to seize 

eYery Eusiness opportunities aPidst the highly coPpetitiYe 
operating environment. The Group will also continue to 
cautiously e[plore Eusiness opportunities for e[pansion� 

GiYen the Group·s Eroad e[posure and inYaluaEle 
experiences of its employees, loyal customers, steady 
cash inÁoZ and consistent innoYation of the products and 
services, the outlook of the Group’s performance will remain 
positive and shall stay ahead in the competitive market.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FranNle �'Mafar� :idMaMa
�([ecutiYe ChairPan and Chief ([ecutiYe 2fficer�

FranNy 2esPan :idMaMa
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David Yeow
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David Yeow (Chairman)
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Lim Jun Xiong, Steven
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7el�  �1 ���1� �95 5950
Fa[�  �1 ���1� �9� �7�0
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c�o 3 Shenton :ay� �17�07 Shenton +ouse� 
Singapore 0�8805
7el�  ��5� ���1 73��
Fa[�  ��5� �3�9 5709
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SHARE LISTING
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Bund Center Investment Ltd (the “Company” or BCI” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) remains committed 
to observing high standards of corporate governance, to promote corporate transparency and to enhance shareholder 
value. The Company has complied substantively with the principles and guidelines set out in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012 (“2012 Code”) through effective self-regulatory corporate practices.

This report sets out the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific reference to the guidelines 
of the 2012 Code, and provides explanation for deviations from the recommendations under the 2012 Code. For easy 
reference, the principles of the 2012 Code are set out in italics in this report.

A. BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is 

collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to 

achieve this objective and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

1.1 The Board’s Role

  The primary function of the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is to provide effective leadership and 
direction to enhance the long-term value of the Group to its shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board has 
the responsibility to fulfil its role which includes the following:-

(a)  ensuring that the long-term interests of the shareholders are being served and safeguarding the Company’s 
assets;

(b)  assessing major risk factors relating to the Company and its performance, and reviewing measures, including 
internal controls, to address and mitigate such risks;

(c)  reviewing and approving Management’s strategic and business plans, including developing a depth of 
knowledge of the business being served, understanding and questioning the assumptions upon which plans 
are based, and reaching an independent judgement as to the probability that the plans can be realised;

(d) monitoring the performance of Management against plans and goals;

(e) reviewing and approving significant corporate actions and major transactions;

(f) assessing the effectiveness of the Board;

(g)  ensuring ethical behaviour (including ethical standards) and compliance with laws and regulations, auditing 
and accounting principles, and the Company’s own governing documents; and

(h)  performing such other functions as are prescribed by law, or assigned to the Board in the Company’s 
governing documents.
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1.2 Independent Judgement

All Directors are expected to objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities, in the interests of the Company. 
Directors who are in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a transaction or proposed transaction are required 
to declare the nature of their interests, and voting on the resolution is prohibited if he / she has personal material 
interest, in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”). 

The Board currently consists of 7 members, as shown below together with their membership on the Board 
committees of the Company (“Board Committee”):-

Board Appointment Board Committee Appointment

Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja Executive,
non-independent Director

–

Franky Oesman Widjaja Non-executive,
non-independent Director

Member of NC and RC

Deborah Widjaja Executive,
non-independent Director

–

Chew Yow Foo Executive,
non-independent Director

–

Lim Jun Xiong, Steven Non-executive,
independent Director

Chairman of AC
Member of RC and NC

David Yeow Non-executive,
independent Director

Chairman of RC
Member of AC and NC

Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan Non-executive,
independent Director

Chairman of NC 
Member of AC and RC

Abbreviation:-
AC: Audit Committee
NC: Nominating Committee
RC: Remuneration Committee

A majority of our Board members are non-executive. Of the 4 non-executive Directors, 3 are independent Directors 
making up more than one-third of the composition of the Board, thereby providing a strong and independent element 
on the Board. This is fundamental to good corporate governance as it facilitates the exercise of independent and 
objective judgement on corporate affairs. It also ensures discussion and review of key issues and strategies in a 
critical yet constructive manner.

1.3 Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board, the Board has delegated certain functions to the 3 Board Committees, namely, the AC, the NC 
and the RC, at the same time recognizing that the ultimate responsibility on all matters rest with the Board. Each 
of these Board Committees has its own written terms of reference. Please refer to pages 22 to 32 of this report for 
further information on these Board Committees.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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1.4 Key Features of Board Processes

To assist Directors in planning their attendance at meetings, the dates of Board meetings, Board Committee 
meetings and annual general meeting together with agenda items are scheduled up to one year in advance, with 
Directors meeting each quarter. In addition to the regular scheduled meetings, ad-hoc meetings are convened 
as and when circumstances warrant. Besides physical meetings, the Board and the Board Committees may also 
make decisions by way of circular resolutions under the Bye-laws and their respective terms of reference.
 
Board meetings are conducted in Singapore or overseas where participation by Board members by means of 
teleconference, videoconference or similar communication equipment is permitted under the Bye-laws. In 2016, the 
Board and Board Committees held a total of 13 meetings, with the year-end meeting focusing on annual budget 
and strategic issues.

1.5 Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings in 2016

Details on the number of Board and Board Committee meetings held in 2016, and the attendance of Directors and 
Board Committee members at those meetings are disclosed below:-

No. of meetings attended by members

Name
Board 

Meetings

Audit 
Committee
Meetings

Nominating 
Committee 
Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 4/4 – – –

Deborah Widjaja 4/4 – – –

Chew Yow Foo 4/4 – – –

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Franky Oesman Widjaja 4/4 - 1/1 3/3

Lim Jun Xiong, Steven 4/4 5/5 1/1 3/3

David Yeow 4/4 5/5 1/1 3/3

Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan 4/4 5/5 1/1 3/3

Number of Meetings Held 4 5 1 3

1.6 Matters Requiring Board Approval

Matters specifically requiring the Board’s approval are set out in the Company’s Internal Guidelines, which include 
the following corporate events and actions:-

• approval of results announcements
• approval of annual report and financial statements
• dividend declaration/proposal
• convening of shareholders’ meetings
• shares issuance
• material acquisitions and disposals of assets 
• annual budgets 
• interested person transactions
• corporate governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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1.7 Board Orientation and Training for New Directors

Procedures are in place whereby newly appointed Directors will be provided with a formal appointment letter setting 
out the terms of appointment, duties and obligations. They will also be given relevant governing documents of 
the Company and contact particulars of senior Management. Directors who do not have prior experience as a 
director of a Singapore listed company will be required to attend externally conducted training on the roles and 
responsibilities as a director of a listed company in Singapore.

Newly appointed non-executive Directors who are not familiar with the Group’s business may, upon recommendation 
of the Chairman or the NC, be provided with orientation through overseas trips and/or Management briefings and 
presentations, to familiarise them with the Group’s operations. Management will also brief new Directors on the 
Group’s business as well as governance practices.

1.8 2016 Director Training Programme

The NC reviews and makes recommendations on Directors’ training which are arranged and funded by the 
Company. The Company has an annual training budget to fund any Director’s participation/attendance at seminars 
and training programmes that are relevant to his / her duties as a Director. 

In conformity with the framework for Directors’ Training as approved by the Board, the 2016 Director Training 
Programme provided a 3-step approach to training as follows, through:-

(1)  Externally conducted courses on audit / financial reporting matters and other relevant topics subject to 
course availability

(2) Quarterly management updates on operations and industry-specific trends and development

(3)  Quarterly continuing education on regulatory changes and updates, which includes briefings to AC members 
on changes to accounting standards and issues

Directors having attended external courses / seminars, in turn shared their experience and knowledge with fellow 
Directors.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement 

on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or 

small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

2.1 Board Size and Composition

Each year, the Board examines its size, composition, skills and core competencies of its members to ensure an 
appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, knowledge and gender. The Board comprises Directors 
from different industries and background, with business and management experience, knowledge and expertise 
that collectively as a group provide the core competencies for the leadership of the Company. Currently, the Board 
includes a female Director. The Company has no alternate Directors on its Board.
 
Taking into account the scope and nature of operations of the Group, the Board considers that the current board 
size of 7 Directors is appropriate to facilitate effective decision making.

Please refer to pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report for key information, including qualifications, on the Directors of 
the Company. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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2.2 Directors’ Independence Review

The ensuing paragraphs set out the criteria and processes to determine a Director’s independence.

The Board has adopted guidelines set out in the 2012 Code on relationships, the existence of which, would deem 
a Director not to be independent. A Director who has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, 
officers or its shareholders with shareholdings of 10% or more in the voting shares of the Company that could 
interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgement 
in the best interests of the Company, is considered to be independent.

The NC is tasked to determine on an annual basis and, as and when the circumstances require, whether or not 
a Director is independent, bearing in mind the 2012 Code and any other salient factor which would render a 
Director to be deemed not independent. For the purpose of determining independence, each Director is required 
to complete a self-declaration checklist, at the time of appointment and annually, based on these guidelines.

Having conducted the relevant reviews, the NC / Board has considered that the following Directors are regarded as 
independent Directors of the Company:-

Mr. Lim Jun Xiong, Steven
Mr. David Yeow
Mr. Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan

None of the independent Directors has served on the Board for more than 9 years.  

Each independent Director has abstained from the NC / Board’s determination of his independence.

2.3 Non-executive Directors 

Non-executive Directors are encouraged, in line with corporate governance practice, to constructively challenge 
and help develop proposals on strategy; to review the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and 
objectives; to monitor the reporting of performance; and to meet regularly without the presence of Management.

The non-executive independent Directors, including the lead independent Director, meet and/or hold discussions 
at least annually without the presence of other executive Directors, non-independent Directors and Management.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executives 

responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable 

concentration of power.

3.1 Chairman and CEO

  Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is Mr. Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja. We believe that the independent 
Directors have demonstrated a high commitment in their roles as Directors and have ensured that there is a good 
balance of power and authority. 

The Chairman is responsible for:-

(a) leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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(b)  setting the agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in 
particular strategic issues;

(c) ensuring that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;

(d) ensuring effective communication with shareholders;

(e) encouraging constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;

(f) facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular; and

(g) promoting high standards of corporate governance.

3.2 Lead Independent Director

In view that the Chairman and CEO positions are being held by the same person, the AC chairman, Mr. Lim Jun 
Xiong, Steven acts as the lead independent Director, whom shareholders with concerns may contact, care of the 
company secretary, when contact through the normal channels has failed to resolve or is inappropriate.

Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors to the 

Board.

4.1 Nominating Committee Composition and Role

The NC comprises the following 4 Directors, 3 of whom, including the NC chairman, are non-executive and 
independent Directors:-

Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan (NC Chairman) 
Lim Jun Xiong, Steven 
David Yeow
Franky Oesman Widjaja
 
The NC’s role and responsibilities are described in its terms of reference. 

The NC is primarily responsible for:-

(a)  reviewing and recommending the nomination or re-nomination of the Directors, having regard to each 
Director’s contribution and performance;

(b) determining annually whether or not a Director is independent;

(c)  deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a 
Director;

(d)  in respect of a Director who has multiple board representations on various companies, to review and decide 
whether or not such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his / her duties as Director, 
having regard to the competing time commitments that are faced by the Director when serving on multiple 
boards;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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(e)  making recommendations to the Board regarding training and professional development programmes for 
the Board; and

(f)  reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their 
employment.

4.2 Process for Selection and Appointment, Re-appointment of Directors

All new Board appointments are considered, reviewed and recommended by the NC first, before being brought 
up to the Board for approval. Potential candidates to fill casual vacancies or as an additional Director are sourced 
with recommendations from Directors, Management or external consultants. The NC then evaluates the suitability 
of potential candidates for the position taking into account, inter alia, the candidate’s age, gender, knowledge, 
skills, experience and ability to contribute to the Board’s effectiveness. Upon the NC’s recommendation, the Board 
approves the new appointment. In the event that the membership of the NC falls below the minimum number of 
3 members, it shall be dissolved, and any new nominations are channeled directly to the Board for approval after 
which the NC is reconstituted with the requisite number of members.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, each Director shall retire at least once every 3 years and a retiring Director shall be eligible 
for re-election at the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. In addition, any Director appointed by the 
Board shall retire at the next AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. 

In its deliberation on the re-election of retiring Directors, the NC takes into consideration the Director’s attendance, 
participation, contribution and performance during the year. Mr. Chew Yow Foo and Mr. Willy Shee Ping Yah @ 
Shee Peng Yan retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM under Bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws and, being 
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. The NC has recommended their re-election at the forthcoming 
AGM.

4.3 Directors’ Time Commitments and Multiple Directorships

It is recommended under the 2012 Code that the Board considers providing guidance on the maximum number 
of listed company representations which each Director of the Company may hold in order to address competing 
time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple boards. The Board believes that each Director, when 
accepting new appointments or who already sit on multiple boards, has the individual responsibility to personally 
determine the demands of his or her competing directorships and obligations, and ensure that he / she can allocate 
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of each company. The Board is of the view that setting a numerical limit 
on the number of listed company directorships that a Director may hold is arbitrary, given that time requirements 
for each person vary, and therefore prefers not to be prescriptive. As a safeguard, the NC will review annually each 
Director’s ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company. The NC is satisfied with the 
time committed by each Director to attend meetings.

Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board 

committees and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

5.1 Board Evaluation Process

The NC is tasked to carry out the processes as implemented by the Board for the purpose of assessing the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and for assessing the contribution by each individual Director to the 
effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company has in place a system to assess the effectiveness / performance of the Board and acts, where 
appropriate, on feedback from Board members, on improvements.  

During the evaluation process, each Director is required to complete the respective forms for self-assessment as 
well as for assessment of the Board’s performance, based on the pre-determined approved performance criteria. 

When deliberating on the performance of a particular Director who is also a member of the NC, that member 
abstains from the discussions in order to avoid any conflict of interests.

The Board considers the current assessment of the Board and individual Director as being sufficient for the 
Company, rather than excessive if additional assessments of 3 Board Committees and Chairman are introduced.

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions 

to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

6.1 Complete, Adequate and Timely Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, Management provides the Board with complete 
and adequate information in a timely manner.  Such information extends to documents on matters to be brought 
up at Board meetings which, as a standard procedure, are circulated to Board members in advance for their 
review and consideration.  Senior Management and other professionals who can provide additional insights into 
the matters to be discussed at Board meetings are also invited to be present at these meetings, where relevant.  As 
Directors may have further queries on the information provided, they have separate and independent access to the 
Company’s senior Management who accordingly addresses individual Director’s request for additional information 
/ documents.

Management provides the Board with financial statements and management reports of the Group on a quarterly 
basis, and upon request as and when required. Explanations are given by Management for material variance (if 
any) between any projections in the budget and actual results.
 

6.2 Company Secretary

The Directors may separately and independently contact the company secretary, who attends and prepares 
minutes for all Board meetings.  The company secretary’s role is defined which includes responsibility for ensuring 
that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

The appointment and the removal of the company secretary are matters requiring the Board’s approval.

6.3 Independent Professional Advice

The process is in place whereby the Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, 
require professional advice, the company secretary can assist them in obtaining independent professional advice, 
at the Company’s expense.
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B. REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for 

fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own 
remuneration.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the 

company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship 

of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies 

should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

7.1 Remuneration Committee Composition and Role

  The RC comprises 4 Directors, a majority of whom, including the RC chairman, are independent Directors. All 
members of the RC are non-executive Directors as follows:-

 David Yeow     (RC Chairman)
 Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan
 Lim Jun Xiong, Steven
 Franky Oesman Widjaja

 The RC has written terms of reference that describes its roles and responsibilities.

The duties of the RC include recommending to the Board for approval, the following:-

(a) a framework of remuneration for the Board and key management personnel;

(b) the specific remuneration packages for each Director and key management personnel; and

(c)  the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of executive Directors and key management 
personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable 
termination clauses which are not overly generous.

During its annual review of remuneration of Directors and key management personnel, the RC may seek advice 
from external remuneration consultants as and when it deems necessary.

None of the members of the RC is involved in deliberations in respect of any remuneration, fee, compensation, 
incentives or any form of benefits to be granted to him.

7.2 Long-Term Incentive Schemes

Currently, the Company does not have long-term incentive schemes, including share schemes.
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8.1 Remuneration of Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel

In designing the compensation structure, the Company seeks to ensure that the level and mix of remuneration is 
competitive, relevant and appropriate.

The remuneration structure for executive Directors and key management personnel consists of (a) fixed remuneration, 
(b) variable bonus and/or (c) other benefits. Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees.

The level of remuneration is determined by various factors including performance of the Group, industry practices 
and the individual’s performance and contributions towards achievement of corporate objectives and targets.

Payments are made based on the extent of the individual’s achievement of performance conditions for the year 
under review.

8.1.1  The use and application of clawback provisions in remuneration contracts of executive Directors and key 
management personnel is subject to further consideration by the Company.

8.2 Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

8.2.1 Non-Executive Independent Directors

Non-executive independent Directors receive Directors’ fees, which are subject to shareholders’ approval at 
AGMs (“Directors’ Fees”).

Directors’ Fees are determined based on a scale of fees comprising a basic fee, AC chairman fee, AC 
member fee, RC chairman fee, RC member fee, NC chairman fee, and NC member fee. Additional fee is 
paid to the independent director appointed to the board of the overseas principal subsidiary.

The level of Directors’ Fees is reviewed annually by the RC and/or the Board, during which factors such as 
contributions, regulatory changes and responsibilities and market benchmarks are taken into consideration.

8.2.2 Non-Executive Director

No remuneration was paid to the non-executive Director during the year.
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Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, 

and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in 

relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to 

directors and key management personnel, and performance.

9.1 Directors’ Remuneration

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2016 in bands of S$250,000 is set out in the table 
below:-

Name of Directors Fixed
Salary

Bonus paid or 
payable/Benefit

Directors’ 
Fees

Total

Executive Directors

S$1,500,000 to below S$1,750,000
Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 68.5% 31.5% – 100%

S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Chew Yow Foo
Deborah Widjaja

70.2%
78.8%

29.8%
21.2%

–
–

100%
100%

Non-Executive Independent Directors

Below S$250,000
Lim Jun Xiong, Steven
David Yeow
Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan

–
–
–

–
–
–

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

Non-Executive Director

Nil
Franky Oesman Widjaja – – – –

Variable bonus is based on performance in the same financial year.

Each Director’s remuneration is expressed in bands of S$250,000 rather than to the nearest dollar, given that 
remuneration continues to be a sensitive subject, to the extent that it may encourage inappropriate and out of 
context peer comparisons and lead to discontent. The Company believes that the current format of disclosure in 
bands of S$250,000 with a percentage breakdown, is sufficient indication, for the time being, of each Directors’ 
remuneration package.
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9.2 Remuneration of Top 5 Key Management Personnel

The top 5 key management personnel of the Group (in alphabetical order) who are not Directors of the Company 
(“KMP”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 and their remuneration falling in bands of S$250,000, are as follows:-

Carolyn Wu Hong
Gregory Findlay
Hor Chai Yuen
Miriam Wolber
Thomas Rappl

KMPs’ Remuneration Band Number of KMP

S$500,000 to below S$750,000 1

Below S$250,000 4

The total remuneration paid to the top 5 KMPs for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to S$1,167,890.

The Company, having taken into account the relevant personnel’s comments and sentiments and determination 
that their remuneration is not out of line when compared with the market range, believes that it is not in the Group’s 
interest to disclose the above remuneration to the full extent recommended, due to continuing sensitivity and 
confidentiality surrounding the issue of remuneration and, moreover, such disclosure may encourage inappropriate 
and out of context peer comparisons and discontent, and may, in certain cases, also hamper the Group’s ability to 
retain its talent pool in a competitive environment.

9.3 Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director/CEO

The remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of  the CEO, and whose remuneration exceeds 
S$50,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016, are as follows:-

Remuneration Band Name of Employee Relationship

S$100,000 to below S$150,000 Jehnny Susanty Spouse

Joshua Wijaya Son

Mr. Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja and Mr. Franky Oesman Widjaja are brothers. Ms. Deborah Widjaja is the daughter of 
Mr. Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja. Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors had immediate family members who 
were employees and whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position 

and prospects.

10.1 Accountability

The Board reviews and approves the results announcements before its release. In presenting the quarterly and 
annual financial statements to shareholders, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and clear 
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

For the financial year under review, the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) have provided assurance to 
the Board on the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. For interim financial 
statements, the Board provided a negative assurance confirmation to shareholders.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and independent 
of the activities it audits.

13.1 Internal Audit

The Company has established an in-house internal audit function. The role of the internal auditors is to assist the 
AC to ensure that the Company maintains a sound system of internal controls.

The Head of Internal Audit’s primary reporting line is to the AC chairman, with an administrative line of reporting 
to the Chief Executive Officer. The Head of Internal Audit has met the standards set by nationally or internationally 
recognized professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The 
Institute of Internal Auditors.

The AC approves the hiring and removal of the Head of Internal Audit and ensures that the internal audit function is 
adequately staffed and has appropriate standing within the Company. It also ensures the adequacy of the internal 
audit function.

The annual internal audit plan is established in consultation with, but independent of, Management, and is reviewed 
and approved by the AC.  At AC meetings, the AC reviews and discusses with Management, internal audit findings, 
recommendations and status of remediation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



30

Principle 12: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority 

and duties.

12.1 Audit Committee Composition and Role

The AC comprises the following 3 Directors, all of whom, including the AC chairman, are non-executive and 
independent Directors:-

Lim Jun Xiong, Steven   (AC Chairman) 
David Yeow  
Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan

The Board considers that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified to discharge the responsibilities of the 
AC. None of the members of the AC were previous partners or directors of our external auditors, Moore Stephens 
LLP (“MS”), and none of the members of the AC hold any financial interest in MS.

The AC’s roles and responsibilities are described in its terms of reference.

The AC has the explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. In addition, the AC has full 
access to and co-operation of Management and full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its 
meetings.  Reasonable resources are made available to enable the AC to discharge its functions properly. 

The duties of the AC include the following:-

(a)  reviewing the audit plans of the Company’s internal and external auditors, their evaluation of the system of 
internal controls, their audit reports, their management letter and our management’s response;

(b) reviewing the co-operation given by our Company’s management to the external auditors;

(c)  considering and recommending the appointment or re-appointment of the Company’s external auditors and 
matters relating to resignation or dismissal of auditors;

(d) considering the appointment or re-appointment of an internal auditor or compliance adviser;

(e)  reviewing the financial statements of the Company and the Group before submission to the Board for 
approval, focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant 
adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards 
as well as compliance with the Listing Manual (as defined below) and any other relevant statutory/regulatory 
requirements;

(f) reviewing interested person transactions (if any);

(g)  reviewing potential conflicts of interests (if any) and to set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential 
conflict of interests;

(h)  undertaking such other reviews as may be requested by the Board, and reporting to the Board its findings 
from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;
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(i)  reviewing the internal controls and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and 
management, reviewing the assistance given by management to the auditors, and discussing problems 
and concerns, if any, arising from interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may wish to 
discuss (in the absence of the management where necessary);

(j)  generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute, regulations or the listing 
manual (“Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, or by such amendments 
as may be made thereto from time to time;

(k)  reviewing arrangements by which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in 
matters of financial reporting and ensuring that arrangements are in place for the independent investigations 
of such matter and for appropriate follow-up; and

(l)  conducting periodic review of foreign exchange transactions and hedging policies (if any) undertaken by the 
Group.

Apart from the above functions, the AC will commission and review the findings of internal investigations into 
matters where there is suspicion of fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any law, rule 
or regulation, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s operating results and/or financial 
position. 

The AC reviews with Management, and where relevant, the auditors, the results announcements, annual report and 
financial statements, interested person transactions and corporate governance, before submission to the Board for 
approval or adoption.

In performing its functions, the AC meets with the internal auditors and external auditors, and reviews the audit plans 
and overall scope of both internal and external audits, and the co-operation and assistance given by Management 
to the respective auditors. Where necessary, the AC also meets with the internal auditors and external auditors 
whereby any issues may be raised directly with the AC, without the presence of Management. The internal and 
external auditors have unfettered access to the AC.

The AC has discussed with external auditors and Management on matters of significance which are included 
under “Key Audit Matters” in the Independent Auditors’ Report. The AC is satisfied that those matters have been 
appropriately addressed. The AC recommended to the Board to approve the audited financial statements of the 
Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016 Financial Statements”). The Board has on 16 
March 2017 approved the FY2016 Financial Statements.

12.2 Auditor Independence

The AC reviews the independence of the external auditors. During this process, the AC also reviews all non-audit 
services provided by the external auditors to satisfy itself that the nature and extent of such non-audit services would 
not affect their independence. The external auditors did not provide any non-audit services during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016. 

The AC has recommended to the Board that the external auditors be nominated for re-appointment at the 
forthcoming AGM. 

In appointing the audit firms for the Group, the AC is satisfied that the Company has complied with Rules 712 and 
715 of the Listing Manual.
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12.3 Whistle-Blowing Procedures

The Board is committed to uphold the Company’s values and standards, and has put in place whistle-blowing 
procedures by which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns or complaints about possible improprieties relating 
to matters of financial reporting or other matters. 

Under these procedures, the AC may, if it deems appropriate, engage appropriate external independent advisors, 
at the Company’s expense.

The Company is committed to treat all complaints as confidential, and the anonymity of the whistle-blower concerned 
will be maintained until the whistle-blower indicated that he or she does not wish to remain anonymous.

12.4 Annual Confirmation on Procedures relating to Rights of First Refusal (“ROFR”)

In accordance with paragraph 4.2 of the circular dated 12 November 2014 (“Circular”) to shareholders of the 
Company, the AC confirms that no ROFR (details of which are set out in the Circular) has been granted to and/
or exercised by Sinarmas Land Limited and the Company during the financial year from 1 January 2016 to 31 
December 2016.

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a 

sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s 

assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in 
achieving its strategic objectives.

11.1 Responsibilities for Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board, with assistance from the Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ERMC”) and the AC, is responsible 
for the governance of risk by ensuring that Management maintains a system of risk and internal controls to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets, and determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which 
the Board is willing to take in achieving strategic objectives.

11.2 The ERMC

The ERMC, comprising the following members during the year under review, was formed in 2013 to assist 
Management in its role of managing risks, as part of the Group’s efforts to strengthen its risk management 
processes and framework:-

Mr. Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja  – CEO
Ms. Deborah Widjaja  – Executive Director and Deputy CEO
Mr. Chew Yow Foo   – Executive Director and CFO
Mr. Gregory Findlay   – General Manager, Westin Bund Center
Mr. Lai Foong Nin   – Head of Internal Audit (Monitoring Function)
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11.3 ERM Processes

The integrated ERM process of the Group has covered a comprehensive reporting system that would ensure, 
inter alia, the Board fulfilling its reporting obligations with regards to Principle 11 of the 2012 Code relating to risk 
management and internal controls.

To ensure that the Group’s internal controls and risk management systems and processes are in place and 
adequate and effective, the following has been executed during the ERM implementation: 

(a) performed an analysis to identify and prioritize the Group critical risks management activities;

(b) rolled out time frame and plan to manage these Group existing risk management activities; and 

(c)  reviews conducted by the external auditors, internal auditors and the ERMC.

11.4 Assurance from the CEO and the CFO

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO that:-

(a)  the financial records of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 have been properly 
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework that are free from material misstatement; and

(b)  the internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and 
systems established by the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 were adequate and 
effective, based on the internal audit activities conducted in 2016.

The CEO and CFO have obtained similar assurance from the business heads in the Group.

11.5 Opinion on Adequacy and Effectiveness of Internal Control and Risk Management System

The AC is responsible for making the necessary recommendations to the Board such that the Board may make 
an opinion regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group. In this regard, the AC is assisted by the external auditors, internal auditors and the ERMC.

The AC has reviewed the Company’s key financial risk areas and noted that save for the exchange rate differences, 
the Group has not entered into any financial contracts which will give rise to significant financial risks. Please refer 
to paragraph 7 on page 39 of the Financial Report.

The Board is satisfied that there is appropriate and adequate review by the AC of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies 
and systems established by Management. In its review, the AC had been assisted by the external auditors and the 
internal auditors, and this review is conducted at least once every year.

During the course of the audit, the external auditors carried out a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s material internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls 
to the extent of their scope as laid out in their audit plan.  Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses 
noted during their audit are reported to the AC together with their recommendations.
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In addition, based on the ERM framework established and maintained, the work performed by the ERMC and the 
internal audit function as well as the assurance received from the CEO and the CFO, the Board with the concurrence 
of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls including financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls, and risk management systems, were adequate and effective as at 31 December 
2016 to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

The Board notes that the Company’s system of internal controls and risk management provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen. 
Furthermore, the Board also acknowledge that no system of internal controls and risk management can provide 
absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement 
in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

D. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Principle 14: Shareholder Rights

Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognize, protect and facilitate the 
exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

14.1 Shareholder Rights

The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining transparency and accountability to its shareholders. The 
Board ensures that the Company’s shareholders are treated fairly and equitably, and their rights are protected.

The Company is committed to providing shareholders with adequate, timely and sufficient information pertaining to 
the Group’s business which could have a material impact on the Company’s share price.

All shareholders of the Company are entitled to attend and vote at general meetings in person or by proxy. 
Shareholders also receive the annual reports of the Company and notices of general meetings, which are also 
advertised in the newspapers.

Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders

Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote 

regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

15.1 Communication with Shareholders

Shareholders are kept informed of corporate developments by announcements and annual reports posted on the 
SGX website. General information on the Group may also be found on the Company’s website.

The Company announces its results on a quarterly basis. The Company does not practice selective disclosure 
of material information. In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company under the Listing Manual, 
the Company conveys material information and its quarterly financial results through announcements made via 
SGXNET. Results announcements and annual reports are announced or issued within the specified / stipulated 
period. 
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The current situation does not warrant it nor is it cost effective for having a dedicated investor relations personnel or 
team. Nonetheless, the Executive Directors and Management of the Company remain open to address queries of 
shareholders and other stakeholders on the Group’s operations and related corporate actions. The Directors meet 
with shareholders at least annually at the AGM.

15.2 Dividend Policy

Based on Management recommendations, the Directors determine on a quarterly basis the amount, if any, of 
dividends to be declared taking into account all relevant factors. Any payouts will be clearly communicated to 
shareholders via announcements posted on SGXNET.

An interim dividend of S$0.031 per ordinary share with a par value of US$0.10 each for the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 was declared and paid on 12 December 2016.

Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders, and allow 

shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

16.1 Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

During the AGMs which are held in Singapore, shareholders are given the opportunity to express their views and 
to engage the Board and Management on the Group’s business activities and financial performance. Directors 
are encouraged to attend shareholders’ meetings. In particular, members of the AC, NC and RC and the external 
auditors are asked to be present to address questions at such meetings.

At general meetings, each distinct issue is proposed as a separate resolution. Absentia voting methods are currently 
not permitted, as the authentication of shareholder identity information and other related integrity issues still remain 
a concern. 

Since the 2013 AGM, in support of greater transparency and to allow for a more efficient voting process, the 
Company has employed electronic poll voting for all resolutions put at general meetings. Votes cast for and against 
and the respective percentages, on each resolution were instantly displayed on screen. The breakdown of results 
showing the total number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages were also 
announced after the general meetings via SGXNET.

Dealings in Securities

The Company complies with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual on dealings in securities, and has devised and adopted 
its own internal compliance code to provide guidance with regard to dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company, 
its Directors and officers, including the prohibition on dealings in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.  

Dealings in the Company’s securities are prohibited during the period commencing (i) two weeks before announcement of 
the Company’s first, second and third quarter results and (ii) one month before the announcement of the Company’s full 
year results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the results. Such dealings in the securities of the Company as 
well as securities of other listed companies are also prohibited whilst in possession of unpublished material price-sensitive 
information in relation to those securities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
The directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Bund 
Center Investment Ltd (“BCI” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016. 
 
 
1 Directors 
 

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are: 
 
Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 
Franky Oesman Widjaja 
Deborah Widjaja  
Chew Yow Foo 
Lim Jun Xiong, Steven  
David Yeow 
Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan 

 
 
2 Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Benefits by Means of the Acquisition of Shares and 

Debentures 
 

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose object 
was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 

 
 
3 Directors’ Interest in Shares and Debentures 
 

Except as disclosed below, no directors who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in the 
shares or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the 
financial year. 
 

  Shareholdings  Shareholdings in which 
  registered in the name  directors are deemed 
  of directors or their spouse  to have an interest 
       
 Name of director in At the beginning At the end  At the beginning At the end 
 which interests are held of the year of the year*  of the year of the year* 
       
 The Company      
 Ordinary shares     
       
 Lim Jun Xiong, Steven 2,666 666  - - 
 

* During the current financial year, the Company undertook a share consolidation exercise, where every four 
(4) ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.025 each in the Company were consolidated into one (1) 
ordinary share with a par value of US$0.10. 

 
There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 
January 2017. 
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4 Directors’ Receipt and Entitlement to Contractual Benefits 
 

Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by 
reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is 
a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except that certain directors have 
received remuneration in their capacity as directors and/or executives and as disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
There were certain transactions (disclosed in the notes to the financial statements) with corporations in which 
certain directors have an interest. 

 
 
5 Share Options  
 

There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. 
 
No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued 
shares of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 
There were no unissued shares under option at the end of the financial year in respect of shares of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. 

 
 
6 Interested Person Transactions Disclosure 

 
There were no relevant interested person transactions entered into during the year ended 31 December 2016. 

 
 
7 Risk Management 

 
The management reviews regularly the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of 
significant business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s 
policies and strategies. In addition, the external auditors carry out in the course of their statutory audit, a review 
of the effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses (if any) noted during their audit are reported 
to the Audit Committee together with their recommendations. Management will follow up on the auditors’ 
recommendations (if any) so as to strengthen the Group’s internal control systems. 

 
The following key financial risks areas have been discussed by the Board: 

 
(a) Capital risk management; 

 
(b) Interest rate risk; 

 
(c) Foreign currency risk; 

 
(d) Price risk; 

 
(e) Credit risk; and 

 
(f) Liquidity risk. 

 
These key financial risk areas are discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements. 
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8 Independent Auditors 
 

The auditors, Moore Stephens LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants have expressed their 
willingness to accept re-appointment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
FRANKLE (DJAFAR) WIDJAJA 
Director 
 
 
 
 
CHEW YOW FOO 
Director 
 
Singapore 
16 March 2017 
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
In the opinion of the directors,  
 
(a) the accompanying statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group as set out on pages 46 to 78 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company and the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and of the 
consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group 
for the year then ended; and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group will be 

able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
FRANKLE (DJAFAR) WIDJAJA 
Director 
 
 
 
 
CHEW YOW FOO 
Director 
 
Singapore 
16 March 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BUND CENTER INVESTMENT LTD 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Bund Center Investment Ltd (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) 
as set out on pages 46 to 78, which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 
31 December 2016, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
of the Company give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of 
the Company as at 31 December 2016 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity 
and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs).  
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.   
 
Revenue recognition 
 
We refer to Notes 3(n) and Note 6 to the financial statements. 
 
The Group is principally engaged as a hotel owner and property owner and its revenue comprises hotel revenue 
(including hotel room revenue, food and beverage revenue and other hotel-related revenue) and rental income from 
investment properties. The accounting policies for the different revenue streams are set out in Note 3(n) to the financial 
statements. 
 
This is a key audit matter as revenue is an important measure used to evaluate the performance of the Group. There is a 
risk that revenue is presented for amounts higher than what has been actually generated by the Group. 
 
Our response: 
 

We reviewed the Group’s control environment on the revenue cycle and performed tests of controls and tests of details 
on a sample basis for hotel revenue and rental income. We performed analytical review procedures and enquired with 
management for any significant or unusual fluctuations noted. We also tested a sample of journal vouchers for any 
unusual adjustments made to the revenue accounts. We tested revenue to be recognised in the relevant accounting 
period by performing cut-off tests at the year end. 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BUND CENTER INVESTMENT LTD

 
Revenue recognition (cont’d) 
 
Our findings: 
 
We found the Group’s revenue recognition to be consistent with its accounting policies and in accordance with IAS 18 
Revenue. We are satisfied that the Group’s revenue has been appropriately recognised and in the relevant accounting 
period. 
 
Valuation of investment properties 
 
We refer to Notes 3(f), 5(b) and 16 to the financial statements. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties amounted to S$227.9 million, which accounted for 48% of the 
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2016. Management reviews for any indicators of impairment on the Group’s 
investment properties at year end. An impairment exists when the carrying amount of the investment properties is higher 
than its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. 
 
This is a key audit matter as the assessment of indicators of impairment and where such indicators exist, the 
determination of the recoverable amount, require management judgement. 
 
Our response: 
 
We evaluated management’s assessment on impairment indications, including a detailed discussion with the Group’s 
key management and corroborating to evidential materials in support of the management’s assessment. 
 
We evaluated supporting independent professional valuations obtained by management to evaluate the fair value of the 
Group’s investment properties at year end. 
 
Our findings: 
 
We found management’s assessment on impairment indications for the Group’s investment properties to be appropriate. 
The independent valuation for the fair value of the Group’s investment properties to evaluate the recoverable amount of 
the investment properties is also within a reasonable range. 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of 
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report on pages 1 to 41, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.  
 
The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.   

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BUND CENTER INVESTMENT LTD 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)  
 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr Ng Chiou Gee Willy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moore Stephens LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Singapore 
16 March 2017 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BUND CENTER INVESTMENT LTD
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
 Note 2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
Revenue 6 129,282  140,568 
Cost of sales  (60,416)  (68,034) 
Gross profit  68,866  72,534 
     
Operating expenses     
Selling expenses  (6,870)  (6,360) 
General and administrative expenses  (21,973)  (24,575) 
Total operating expenses  (28,843)  (30,935) 
     
Operating profit  40,023  41,599 
Financial income 7 2,023  3,006 
Financial expenses 7 (279)  (933) 
Other operating income 8 3,968  1,744 
Profit before income tax 9 45,735  45,416 
Income tax 10 (17,328)  (15,583) 
Profit for the year  28,407  29,833 
     
     
Profit for the year attributable to:     
Owners of the Company  27,311  28,657 
Non-controlling interests  1,096  1,176 
  28,407  29,833 
     
Earnings per share (Singapore cents)     
Basic and diluted 11 3.60  3.76 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
Profit for the year  28,407  29,833 
     
Other comprehensive income:     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
Foreign currency differences arising from consolidation (20,079)  11,920 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax  8,328  41,753 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:     
Owners of the Company  8,027  40,190 
Non-controlling interests  301  1,563 
  8,328  41,753 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
  Group  Company 
 Note 2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
ASSETS         
Current Assets          

Cash and cash equivalents 12 60,553  120,516  544  170 
Short-term investments 13 1,132  1,305  -  - 
Trade receivables and other current 

assets 14 4,269  4,693  14,251  40,836 
Inventories, at cost  488  445  -  - 

  66,442  126,959  14,795  41,006 
         
Non-Current Assets         

Interest in subsidiaries 15 -  -  410,659  410,659 
Investment properties  16 227,942  251,927  -  - 
Property, plant and equipment 17 179,712  196,458  -  - 
Deferred tax assets 18 4,880  5,416  -  - 
Deferred charges 19 639  699  -  - 

  413,173  454,500  410,659  410,659 
         
Total Assets  479,615  581,459  425,454  451,665 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
  Group  Company 
 Note 2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         
Current Liabilities         

Trade and other payables 20 29,607  26,543  299  286 
Income tax payable  7,608  5,658  -  - 
Borrowings 21 -  56,624  -  - 
Obligations under finance lease 22 70  19  -  - 

  37,285  88,844  299  286 
         
Non-Current Liabilities         

Obligations under finance lease 22 233  22  -  - 
Long-term liabilities 23 10,080  11,822  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities 18 2,116  1,989  -  - 

  12,429  13,833  -  - 
         
Total Liabilities  49,714  102,677  299  286 
         
Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company        

Share capital 24 105,784  105,784  105,784  105,784 
Share premium  304,881  304,881  304,881  304,881 
Treasury shares 24 (1,498)  (1,498)  (1,498)  (1,498) 
Asset revaluation reserve 25 65,175  65,175  -  - 
Merger reserve 26 (133,639)  (133,639)  -  - 
Foreign currency translation reserve  50,190  69,474  -  - 
Retained earnings 22,770  51,608  15,988  42,212 

  413,663  461,785  425,155  451,379 
Non-Controlling Interests  16,238  16,997  -  - 
Total Equity  429,901  478,782  425,155  451,379 
         
Total Liabilities and Equity  479,615  581,459  425,454  451,665 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
FRANKLE (DJAFAR) WIDJAJA       CHEW YOW FOO 
Director            Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
 
                                                                                    Attributable to Owners of the Company 
 

 
Share 
Capital 

Share 
Premium 

Treasury 
Shares 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
Merger 

Reserve 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total  

Non-
Controlling 
Interests 

Total 
Equity 

 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 
          
Balance as at 
1.1.2016 105,784 304,881 (1,498) 65,175 (133,639) 69,474 51,608 461,785 16,997 478,782 

           
Profit for the year - - - - - - 27,311 27,311 1,096 28,407 
           
Other 
comprehensive 
loss for the year - 
Foreign currency 
translation - - - - - (19,284) - (19,284) (795) (20,079) 
           
Total 
comprehensive 
(loss)/income - - - - - (19,284) 27,311 8,027 301 8,328 
           
Dividends paid  
(Note 27)  - - - - - - (56,149) (56,149) - (56,149) 
           
Dividends paid to 
non-controlling 
shareholders - - - - - - - - (1,060) (1,060) 
           
Balance as at 
31.12.2016 105,784 304,881 (1,498) 65,175 (133,639) 50,190 22,770 413,663 16,238 429,901 

 
 

Balance as at 
1.1.2015 105,784 304,881 (1,262) 65,175 (133,639) 57,941 22,951 421,831 16,696 438,527 
           
Profit for the year - - - - - - 28,657 28,657 1,176 29,833 
           
Other 
comprehensive 
income for the year 
- Foreign currency 
translation - - - - - 11,533 - 11,533 387 11,920 
           
Total 
comprehensive 
income - - - - - 11,533 28,657 40,190 1,563 41,753 
           
Shares buy back 
(Note 24) - - (236) - - - - (236) - (236) 
           
Dividends payable 
to non-controlling 
shareholders - - - - - - - - (1,262) (1,262) 
           
Balance as at 
31.12.2015 105,784 304,881 (1,498) 65,175 (133,639) 69,474 51,608 461,785 16,997 478,782 

 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

 
 Note 2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Profit before income tax  45,735  45,416 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation of investment properties 16 12,417  13,091 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 9,589  9,973 
Amortisation of deferred charges 19 28  30 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 (97)  (253) 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 173  (495) 
Property, plant and equipment written off 8 24  3 
Trade receivables written off 8 590  - 
Interest income 7 (2,023)  (3,006) 
Interest expense 7 279  933 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss  3,180  4,105 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  69,895  69,797 
Changes in working capital:     

Trade receivables and other current assets  (165)  3,447 
Inventories   (43)  3 
Trade and other payables  1,322  (3,932) 

Cash generated from operations  71,009  69,315 
Interest received  2,022  3,012 
Income tax paid  (14,719)  (13,620) 
Interest paid  (279)  (933) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  58,033  57,774 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  100  322 
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment  (1,540)  (647) 
Proceeds from short-term investments  -  1,927 

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities  (1,440)  1,602 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     

Repayment of obligations under finance lease  (88)  (19) 
Repayment of borrowings  (53,960)  - 
Payment of dividends to owners of the Company 27 (56,149)  - 
Payment of dividends to non-controlling shareholders  (1,060)  - 
Payment for shares buy back 24 -  (236) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (111,257)  (255) 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (54,664)  59,121 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  120,516  60,221 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (5,299)  1,174 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 60,553  120,516 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
1 General Information 
 

Bund Center Investment Ltd (the “Company”) was incorporated on 5 August 2009 in Bermuda under the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability. On 30 June 2010, the shares of 
the Company were listed on the Singapore Exchange. 
 
The registered office of the Company is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and 
the principal places of business of the Group are located at Shanghai and Ningbo, the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”). The Company is principally engaged as an investment holding company. Details of the principal 
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements. The controlling shareholders of 
the Company comprise certain members of the Widjaja Family.  
 
The statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as  
at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors  on 
16 March 2017. 

 
 
2 New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
 

(a) Adoption of Amendments to IFRSs 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the 
current financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted all amendments to IFRSs issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual 
periods beginning on 1 January 2016. The adoption of these amendments has had no financial impact on the 
financial performance of the Group or the financial positions of the Group and of the Company.  
 
(b) New and Revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective  
 
As at the date of these financial statements, the following new and amendments to the IFRSs that are relevant 
to the Group’s and the Company’s operations have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 

Description 
Effective date for 

annual period 
beginning on or after 

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2017 
Amendments to IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017 
Improvements to IFRSs (2016)  
x  IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2017 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 
IFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019 
 
Except as disclosed below, the directors of the Company expect the adoption of the new and amendments to 
IFRSs above will have no material impact on the financial performance of the Group and the financial positions 
of the Group and of the Company in the period of initial application.  
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments  

IFRS 9 was introduced to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 
changes the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets and liabilities, and also 
introduces a three-stage impairment model that will impair financial assets based on expected losses 
regardless of whether objective indicators of impairment have occurred. IFRS 9 also provides a simplified 
hedge accounting model that will align more closely with companies’ risk management strategies.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
2 New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (cont’d) 

 
(b) New and Revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 
 
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 sets out the requirements for recognising revenue that apply to all contracts with customers (except for 
contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments). 
IFRS 15 replaces the previous revenue standards, IAS 8, Revenue and the relevant interpretations on revenue 
recognition, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31 Revenue – Barter Transactions 
Involving Advertising Services. 
 
IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under 
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more 
structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue when the promised goods and services are 
transferred to the customer, i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied. Key issues include identifying 
performance obligations, accounting for contract modifications, applying the constraint to variable consideration, 
evaluating significant financing components, measuring progress towards satisfaction of a performance 
obligation, recognising contract cost assets and addressing disclosures requirements.   
 
IFRS 16, Leases  
IFRS 16 requires lessees to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more 
than 12 months, except where the underlying asset is of low value. The right-of-use asset is depreciated and 
interest expense is recognised on the lease liability. The accounting requirements for lessors have not been 
changed substantially, and continue to be based on classification as operating and finance leases. Disclosure 
requirements have been enhanced for both lessors and lessees.  
 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 on the financial performance of 
the Group and the financial positions of the Group and of the Company and plans to adopt these standards on 
the required effective date. 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation  
 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of estimates and judgements 
that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses as well as the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities.  Although these estimates 
are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may actually differ 
from these estimates.  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the financial 
statements, and areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 5 to the 
financial statements. 
 
 
(b) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). For the purpose of the 
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity in the Group are presented in 
Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company. All financial information presented in 
Singapore dollars have been rounded to the nearest thousand (S$’000) unless otherwise indicated.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(c) Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation  
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currencies of the entities in the Group 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are entered into. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of foreign currency denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities at the rates prevailing at the reporting date are recognised in the income statement. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of initial transactions. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign 
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined. 
 
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of those entities whose 
functional currency is not the Singapore dollars are translated into Singapore dollars, the presentation currency 
of the Group, as follows: 
 
x assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the reporting date; 
x share capital and reserves are translated at historical exchange rates; and 
x income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless the average rate is 

not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of rates prevailing on the transactions dates, in 
which case, income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions). 

 
Exchange differences arising from the above translations are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
these are accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. On consolidation, exchange differences arising 
from the translation of net investments in foreign entities (including monetary items that in substance form part of 
the net investments in foreign entities) are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated foreign 
currency translation reserve. On disposal, the accumulated translation differences are recognised in the income 
statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal in the period in which the foreign entity is disposed of. While on a 
partial disposal which does not result in a loss of control, the proportionate share of accumulated translation 
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in the income statement. 
 
 
(d) Subsidiaries  
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which any of the Group companies have control. The Group companies control an 
entity if and only if they have power over the entity and when they are exposed to, or have rights to variable 
returns from their involvement with the entity, and have the ability to use their power over the entity to affect 
those returns. The Group will re-assess whether or not it controls an entity if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group companies and are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 
 
Interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s statement 
of financial position. On disposal of interests in subsidiaries, the difference between the disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amounts of the interests are recognised in the income statement. 
 
 
(e) Basis of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made 
up to 31 December, after elimination of material balances, transactions and unrealised profit or loss on 
transactions between the group entities. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
accounting period as the Company, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in 
similar circumstances in accordance with IFRSs.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(e) Basis of Consolidation (cont’d) 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the business combination. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value which comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the acquirer. Acquisition related costs are 
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Any non-controlling interests in the acquiree is measured at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary 
attributable to the interest which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. They 
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of financial position. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests 
based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. 
 
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transaction. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.  Any difference between the change in carrying 
amount of the non-controlling interests and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.  When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it 
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests and other 
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.   
 
Business combinations which involve the transfer of net assets or the exchange of shares between entities under 
common control are accounted for as a uniting of interests. The financial information included in the consolidated 
financial statements reflects the combined results of the entities concerned as if the combination had been in effect 
for all periods presented. In accordance with IFRSs, profits reflected in the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs may differ from those reflected in the PRC statutory financial statements of the 
subsidiaries, prepared for PRC reporting purposes. In accordance with relevant laws and regulations, profits 
available for distribution by the PRC subsidiaries are based on the amounts stated in the PRC statutory financial 
statements. 
 
 
(f) Investment Properties 
 
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.   
 
Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses where the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower 
than its carrying amount. Depreciation is calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the depreciable 
amounts over the estimated useful lives of 30 to 40 years or, where shorter, the terms of the relevant leases. 
 
Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 
renovation and improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are 
recognised in the income statement. The cost of maintenance and minor improvements is recognised in the 
income statement when incurred. 
 
Investment properties are derecognised when, either they have been disposed of, or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any 
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement 
in the year of retirement or disposal. 
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(g) Deferred Charges 
 
Deferred charges comprise certain expenditures, being benefits extend over a period of more than one year which 
are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. These costs are 
amortised to the income statement over the periods benefited using the straight-line method. 
 
 
(h) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses whereby the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower 
than its carrying amount. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, using the straight-line 
method, over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
Leasehold land and buildings - 30 to 40 years 
Plant, machinery and equipment - 5 to 20 years 
Motor vehicles - 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures - 5 years 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to the income statement as incurred; significant renewals and 
improvements are capitalised. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, their carrying amounts and the 
related accumulated depreciation are derecognised and any resulting gains or losses are recognised in the income 
statement for the year. The residual values and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date. The effect of any revision are recognised in the 
income statement when the changes arise. 
 
 
(i) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or whether there is any impairment loss 
previously recognised for an asset in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated at the higher of the asset’s value in use and/or its fair 
value less cost of disposal. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. If the recoverable amount of an asset 
(or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense 
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that it does not restate the asset 
to a carrying amount in excess of what would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as an income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(j) Inventories 
 
Inventories comprise primarily hotel consumables are measured at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in, 
first-out basis, and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. 
 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all estimated 
costs of completion.  
 
 
(k) Leases 
 
x When the Group is the lessee 

 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating lease. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.  
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment when the Group assumed substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception at the lower 
of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  
 
Each lease payment is allocated between the finance charges and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability. 
The finance charge is recognised in the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  
 
x When the Group is the lessor 

 
Leases of investment properties where the Group retains substantively all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership are classified as operating lease. Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to 
the lessees) is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease period. Contingent 
rents are recognised as income in the income statement when earned. 
 
 
(l) Financial Assets 
 
The Group classifies its non-derivative financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and 
fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets are 
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Financial assets 
are derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired, or have been transferred and transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial assets to another entity. 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor 
with no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents and trade 
and other current assets (excluding prepayments). Cash and cash equivalents classified under current assets 
comprise cash on hand, cash in bank and time deposits with maturities of three months or less and which are 
highly liquid assets that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.  
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(l) Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, 
the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor 
and default or significant delay in payments. If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the 
income statement.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading and those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 
 
 
(m) Financial Liabilities and Equity 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. Financial liabilities include finance lease obligations, interest-bearing borrowings and 
trade and other payables. The accounting policy adopted for finance lease obligations is outlined in Note 3(k) to the 
financial statements. 
 
Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Direct issue costs are 
amortised over the period of the borrowings. Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or 
redemption, are accounted for on an accrual basis and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the 
extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 
 
Trade and other payables are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received. Interest-bearing trade and other payables are recognised initially at cost less 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing trade and other payables are 
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire. The difference between the carrying of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the par value of shares that have been 
issued. Share premium includes any excess received on the issuance of shares over the par value, net of any 
direct issue costs. The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda.  
 
The Company’s own ordinary shares, which are re-acquired by the Company and held as treasury shares, are 
recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the 
purchase, sale, re-issuance or cancellation of equity shares. Any difference between the carrying amount of 
treasury shares and the consideration received, if re-issued, is recognised directly in equity as gain or loss on 
re-issuance of treasury shares. 
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(n) Revenue Recognition  
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is recognised in the income statement as follows: 
 
x Rental income from operating leases on investment property is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.  
x Hotel room revenue is recognised based on room occupancy while other hotel revenues are recognised 

when the goods are delivered or the services are rendered to the customers. 
x Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable. 
x Deferred income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
 
(o) Business Assistance Grant 
 
Business assistance grants are granted by certain district bureau. Such grant which is discretionary in nature is 
recognised at their fair value and presented as a credit in the income statement under a general heading such 
as “Other Operating Income” upon receipt. 
 
 
(p) Borrowing Costs 
 
Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in the income statement in the period in which they are 
incurred, except to the extent they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition and construction 
of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use or sale. 
 
 
(q) Post-Employment Benefits 
 
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 
separate entities on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. Payments to defined contribution plans are charged as an expense when 
employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. 
 
 
(r) Income Tax 
 
Current income tax for current and prior years is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered 
from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates income. Deferred income tax is provided 
in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  Deferred income tax is charged or credited to the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income 
tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority. The amount of deferred income tax is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 
(s) Dividends Distribution 
 
Dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as liability in the financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are approved for payment. 
 
 
(t) Segment Reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Executive Committee 
whose members are responsible for allocating and assessing performance of the operating segments. 
 
 

4 Financial Risk Management 
 
(a) Capital Risk Management  
 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise the shareholders’ value. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged since 2015.  
 
Neither the Group nor the Company is subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The net cash and 
total equity as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

 2016  2015 
 S$’000  S$’000 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 60,553 120,516 
Short-term investments 1,132 1,305 
Debts  (303) (56,665) 
Net cash 61,382 65,156 
   
Total equity 429,901 478,782 
    
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of the review, the 
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.  
 
The Group monitors the capital using the net cash/debt position and gearing ratio, if any. Total equity include all 
capital, reserves of the Group and non-controlling interests while total debts include all borrowings and 
obligations under finance lease. 
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4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 
(b) Financial Risk Management  
 
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, interest risk, price risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk.  
 
(i) Foreign Currency Risk 

 
The Group’s foreign currency exposures arose mainly from its commercial transactions, recognised assets and 
liabilities, primarily the exchange rate movements of the United States dollar (“USD”), the Chinese Renminbi 
(“RMB”), the Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and the Singapore dollar (“SGD”). The Group did not actively engage in 
activities to hedge its foreign currency exposures.  In addition to transactional exposure, the Group is also 
exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations, including the PRC and 
Hong Kong. The Group’s net investments are not hedged as currency positions in RMB and HKD are considered 
to be long-term in nature. 
 
The entities within the Group have different functional currencies depending on the currency of their primary 
economic environment. A 5% strengthening of the functional currency of these entities against the United States 
dollar at the reporting date would increase/(decrease) the Group’s profit for the year and equity by the amount 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant: 
 

 2016  2015 
 S$’000  S$’000 

USD against functional currencies of:     
SGD (24)  (2) 
RMB 161  2,865 
HKD (226)  (19) 
 
 
(ii) Interest Risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily arising from its 
interest-bearing cash and cash equivalents and finance lease at the end of the current reporting period. Interest 
rate risk arising from the fluctuation of interest rates has no significant impact on the Group’s profit for the year.  
 
 
(iii) Price Risk 

 
Price risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. The Group is exposed to price risk arising from its investments held as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Group monitors the market closely to ensure that the risk exposure to the volatility of 
the investments is kept to a minimum. At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant exposure to 
price risk. 
 
 
(iv) Credit Risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter-party to a financial asset fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and cash and cash 
equivalents.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. The Group performs regular credit evaluation of its customers’ financial conditions and customers may 
be required to provide security in terms of cash deposits and advances. At the end of the reporting period, there 
was no significant concentration of credit risks. Cash and bank balances mainly comprise deposits with reputable 
banks with acceptable credit ratings. 
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4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 
(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 
 
(v) Liquidity Risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the financial obligations due to shortage of 
funds. To manage liquidity risk, the Group maintains a level of cash and bank balances and banking facilities 
deemed adequate by management to finance its operations.  In assessing the adequacy of the facilities, 
management reviews its working capital requirements. The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s 
non-derivative financial liabilities based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

     
    Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  Total 
    S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 At 31 December 2016        

 Obligations under finance lease   78  261  339 
 Other financial liabilities   22,536  6,607  29,143 
    22,614  6,868  29,482 

 At 31 December 2015        
 Borrowings   57,696  -  57,696 
 Obligations under finance lease   21  25  46 
 Other financial liabilities   18,778  8,283  27,061 
    76,495  8,308  84,803 

 
 

5 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

 
(a) Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

 
Estimated Useful Lives of Investment Properties and Property, Plant and Equipment 
The Group estimates the useful lives of investment properties and property, plant and equipment based on the 
terms of the relevant leases, or where shorter, the period over which the assets are expected to be available for 
use. The estimated useful lives of investment properties and property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical 
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant assets. The amounts and timing of 
recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in 
the estimated useful lives of investment properties and property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded 
expenses and decrease the non-current assets.   
 
There is no change in the estimated useful lives of investment properties and property, plant and equipment during 
the current financial year. The carrying amounts of the Group’s investment properties and property, plant and 
equipment are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17 to the financial statements respectively. 
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5 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements (cont’d) 
 

(b) Critical Judgement in Applying Accounting Policy 
 
Impairment of Investment Properties 
The Group performs impairment tests on its investment properties at each reporting date to assess whether 
they are impaired, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 3(i). The recoverable amounts of the 
investment properties are determined at the higher of the asset’s value in use and/or its fair value less cost of 
disposal. In making this judgement, the Group evaluated the fair value of the investment properties based on 
independent professional valuations.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, there is no impairment loss recognised in the financial statements and the carrying 
amount of the Group’s investment properties amounted to S$227,942,000 (2015: S$251,927,000) (Note 16). 

 
 
6 Revenue 
  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
 Hotel revenue 66,083  68,718 
 Rental income from investment properties 63,199  71,850 
  129,282  140,568 
 
 
7 Financial Income and Expenses 
  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
 Financial income:    
 Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 2,023  3,006 
     
 Financial expenses:    
 Interest expense on bank borrowings (269)  (931) 
 Interest expense on obligations under finance lease (10)  (2) 
  (279)  (933) 
 
 
8 Other Operating Income 
  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
 Business assistance grant 4,263  4,506 
 Miscellaneous services income 2,141  1,078 
 Advertising income 527  508 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 97  253 
 Rental deposits forfeited 29  288 
 Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (173)  495 
 Property, plant and equipment written off (24)  (3) 
 Trade receivables written off (Note 14) (590)  - 
 Net foreign exchange loss (2,302)  (5,381) 
  3,968  1,744 
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9 Profit before Income Tax 
 

In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, this item 
includes the following charges: 

  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
 Audit fees paid/payable to:    
 Auditors of the Company 111  101 
 Auditors of the subsidiaries 60  49 
 Non-audit fees paid/payable to:    
 Auditors of the Company -  - 
 Auditors of the subsidiaries -  - 
 Depreciation of investment properties (Note 16) 12,417  13,091 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) 9,589  9,973 
 Staff costs:    
 Salaries and wages 14,822  13,977 
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 3,662  3,722 
 Cost of consumables recognised as an expense in cost of sales 5,545  6,142 
 
 
10 Income Tax 
  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
 Tax expense is made up of:    
 Current income tax    
 Current year 15,242  15,404 
 Under/(Over)-provision in respect of prior years 1,672  (6) 
  16,914  15,398 
 Deferred income tax (Note 18) 414  185 
  17,328  15,583 
 

Substantially all the Group’s operations are located in the PRC. Accordingly, the PRC statutory tax rate is used in 
the reconciliation of the tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate as 
shown below.  

  Group 
  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000 
     
 Profit before income tax  45,735  45,416 
     
 Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%) 11,434  11,354 
 Withholding tax on dividend distributed by a subsidiary 1,613  1,848 
 Non-taxable income (19)  (8) 
 Non-deductible expenses  2,120  2,133 
 Effect of different tax rate 195  163 
 Deferred tax expense/(credit) arising from unremitted retained earnings 127  (117) 
 Unrecognised deferred tax assets 186  216 
 Under/(Over)-provision in respect of prior years 1,672  (6) 
  17,328  15,583 
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11 Earnings Per Share 
 

The earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average numbers of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

  Group 
  2016  2015 
     
 Profit attributable to owners of the Company (S$’000) 27,311  28,657 
     
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

(excluding treasury shares) (‘000) 758,769  758,848* 
     
 Basic and diluted earnings per share (Singapore cents per share) 3.60   3.76 * 

 
*  During the current financial year, the Company undertook a share consolidation exercise, where every four (4) 

shares of US$0.025 each were consolidated into one (1) ordinary share of US$0.10 each (Note 24).  For a 
meaningful comparison as a result of the share consolidation, the comparative weighted average number of 
ordinary shares and basic and diluted earnings per share was restated. 

 
There is no dilution as the Company did not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding as at 31 December 
2016 and 2015. 

 
 
12 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         

 Cash on hand  104  123  -  - 
 Cash in banks 12,384  11,794  544  170 
 Time deposits 48,065  108,599  -  - 
  60,553  120,516  544  170 

 
The above time deposits have a maturity period of less than three months from the end of the financial year and 
earn interest at rates ranging from 0.3% – 3.4% (2015: 0.025% – 3.800%) per annum. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: 

 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         

 RMB 54,828  119,215  4  5 
 USD 5,392  537  490  25 
 SGD 306  720  50  140 
 HKD 27  44  -  - 
  60,553  120,516  544  170 
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13 Short-Term Investments 
 

The short-term investments (classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) represent 
investment in quoted funds which are denominated in RMB.   

 
 
14 Trade Receivables and Other Current Assets 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Trade receivables  2,530  2,546  -  - 
 Non-trade receivables from 

subsidiaries -  -  14,195  40,779 
 Due from third parties 455  487  -  - 
 Deposits 32  104  -  - 
 Recoverables 294  253  -  - 
 Interest receivable 1  -  -  - 
  3,312  3,390  14,195  40,779 
 Prepayments 957  1,303  56  57 
  4,269  4,693  14,251  40,836 

 
The non-trade receivables from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, 5% (2015: 9%) and 2% (2015: 26%) of the Group’s trade receivables are past due for 
less than 3 months and more than 3 months, respectively. During the current financial year, trade receivables of 
S$590,000 (2015: Nil) was written off in other operating income as these amounts are past due for more than 3 
months and the recovery of these amounts is remote.  
 
Trade receivables and other current assets are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

  Group  Company 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 RMB 4,012  4,223  -  - 
 USD 154  267  13,747  39,972 
 SGD 56  127  504  864 
 Others 47  76  -  - 
  4,269  4,693  14,251  40,836 
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15 Interest in Subsidiaries  
  Company 
  2016  2015 
  S$'000  S$'000 
     
 Unquoted equity shares, at cost 266,194  266,194 
 Loans receivable denominated in SGD 144,465  144,465 
  410,659  410,659 

 
The loans receivable from a subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and not expected to be repaid in the near 
future.  The fair value of loans receivable is not determinable as the timing of the future cash inflows arising 
from these amounts cannot be measured reliably, hence these loans are recognised at transaction price. 
 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

 
Name of company and 
country of incorporation Principal activities 

The Company’s 
cost of investment 

Effective percentage 
of equity held by the 

Company 
   2016 2015 2016 2015 
 Direct subsidiaries of the Company  S$’000 S$’000 % % 
       
 Casleton International Limited (5) 

British Virgin Islands 
Investment holding 160,615 160,615 100.00 100.00 

       
 Handful Resources Limited (5) 

British Virgin Islands 
Investment holding 105,579 105,579 100.00 100.00 

   266,194 266,194   
 

 
Name of company and 
country of incorporation Principal activities 

Effective percentage 
of equity held by 

the Group 

Effective percentage 
of equity held by 

NCI 
   2016 2015 2016 2015 
 Indirect subsidiaries of the Company % % % % 
       
 Koon Chung Limited (3) 

Hong Kong 
Investment holding and 
trading of hotel 
supplies and related 
products 

100.00 100.00 - - 

       
 Ningbo Golden Department Store 

Co., Ltd (“NGDS”) (1) 
People’s Republic of China 

Property development 
and management 

89.21 89.21 10.79 10.79 

       
 Ningbo Zhonghua Land Co., Ltd 

(“NZL”) (1)  
People’s Republic of China 

Property development 89.21 89.21 10.79 10.79 

       
 Primewyn Management & Services 

Pte Ltd (2) 
Singapore 

Provision of 
consultancy and 
management services 

100.00 100.00 - - 
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15 Interest in Subsidiaries (cont’d) 

 
 

Name of company and 
country of incorporation Principal activities 

Effective percentage 
of equity held by 

the Group 

Effective percentage 
of equity held by 

NCI 
   2016 2015 2016 2015 
 Indirect subsidiaries of the Company % % % % 
       
 Shanghai Golden Bund Real Estate 

Co., Ltd (“SGB”) (1) 
People’s Republic of China 

Property owner and 
developer, and hotel 
owner 

96.79 96.79 3.21 3.21 

       
 Smart Investment Ltd (4) 

Mauritius 
Provision of 
consultancy and 
management services 

100.00 100.00 - - 

 
Notes: 
 
(1) Audited by Da Hua Certified Public Accountants, a member firm of Moore Stephens International Limited 

of which Moore Stephens LLP, Singapore is a member. 
(2) Audited by other firms of accountants, CA Practice PAC. 
(3) Audited by other firms of accountants, Lau & Au Yeung CPA Limited. 
(4) No statutory audit is required as the subsidiary is inactive. 
(5) No statutory audit is required by law of its country of incorporation. 

 
As at 31 December 2016, the accumulated NCI is S$16,238,000 (2015: S$16,997,000), of which S$12,026,000 
(2015: S$12,543,000) is for SGB. The NCI in respect of NGDS and NZL are individually not material.  
 
The following table summarises the financial information (before intragroup eliminations) relating to SGB which 
has NCI that are material to the Group: 
 

  2016  2015 
  S$'000  S$'000 
     
 Non-current assets 383,239  422,082 
 Current assets 56,093  121,395 
 Non-current liabilities (9,302)  (11,006) 
 Current liabilities (46,242)  (132,163) 
     
 Revenue 124,493  133,247 
 Profit for the year 35,274  36,146 
 Total comprehensive income for the year 16,945  45,238 
     
 Profit for the year allocated to NCI 1,134  1,162 
 Dividends paid/payable to NCI 1,060  1,262 
     
 Cash flows from operating activities 61,571  61,134 
 Cash flows used in investing activities (924)  (60,630) 
 Cash flows used in financing activities, before dividends to NCI (121,194)  (1,533) 
 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (60,547)  (1,029) 
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16 Investment Properties 

  Group  Company 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 Cost        
 At the beginning of the year  447,054  436,801  -  - 
 Currency realignment (20,507)  10,253  -  - 
 At the end of the year  426,547  447,054  -  - 
         
 Accumulated depreciation        
 At the beginning of the year  195,127  177,919  -  - 

 Depreciation charged to cost of sales 12,417  13,091  -  - 
 Currency realignment (8,939)  4,117  -  - 
 At the end of the year  198,605  195,127  -  - 
         
 Net carrying amount 227,942  251,927  -  - 

 
Investment properties comprise commercial properties namely, The Bund Center office tower and Golden 
Center retail complex that are leased to third parties under operating leases.  
 
The direct operating expenses (which include depreciation and repair and maintenance expense) recognised in 
cost of sales in respect of these operating leases were S$25,370,000 (2015: S$29,342,000) for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2016.  

 
As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties is approximately RMB6,819 
million, equivalent to S$1,418 million based on external valuation reports prepared by the independent 
professional valuers, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited as at 15 February 2017 based on the 
market data approach.  
 
As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties was approximately RMB6,819 
million, equivalent to S$1,487 million based on management’s estimation that the fair value of the Group’s 
investment properties approximated the independent valuation reports dated 25 February 2015, prepared by the 
independent professional valuers, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited based on the market data 
approach.  
 
Under the market data approach, the valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction 
prices for properties located in a similar location. The most significant input in this valuation approach is the 
selling price per unit of floor area. The fair value has been categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (as 
defined in Note 30(b)).  
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17 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Group 

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings  

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment  

Motor 
vehicles  

Furniture 
and 

fixtures  Total 
 S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
Cost          
Balance at 1.1.2016 295,366  14,952  578  13,442  324,338 
Additions -  -  1,045  845  1,890 
Disposals -  -  (189)  -  (189) 
Written off -  (188)  -  (265)  (453) 
Currency realignment (13,548)  (689)  (18)  (616)  (14,871) 
Balance at 31.12.2016 281,818  14,075  1,416  13,406  310,715 
          
Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at 1.1.2016 103,520  13,546  335  10,479  127,880 
Depreciation 8,790  23  226  550  9,589 
Disposals -  -  (186)  -  (186) 
Written off -  (178)  -  (251)  (429) 
Currency realignment (4,744)  (621)  (7)  (479)  (5,851) 
Balance at 31.12.2016 107,566  12,770  368  10,299  131,003 
          
Net carrying amount at 31.12.2016 174,252  1,305  1,048  3,107  179,712 
          
Cost          
Balance at 1.1.2015 288,890  14,623  1,684  12,645  317,842 
Additions 16  9  122  500  647 
Disposals -  -  (1,262)  -  (1,262) 
Written off (232)  (114)  -  -  (346) 
Reclassification (89)  89  -  -  - 
Currency realignment 6,781  345  34  297  7,457 
Balance at 31.12.2015 295,366  14,952  578  13,442  324,338 
          
Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at 1.1.2015 92,349  13,315  1,374  9,709  116,747 
Depreciation 9,275  28  125  545  9,973 
Disposals -  -  (1,193)  -  (1,193) 
Written off (233)  (110)  -  -  (343) 
Currency realignment 2,129  313  29  225  2,696 
Balance at 31.12.2015 103,520  13,546  335  10,479  127,880 
          
Net carrying amount at 31.12.2015 191,846  1,406  243  2,963  196,458 

 
During the current financial year, the additions to property, plant and equipment included a motor vehicle of 
S$350,000 (2015: Nil) acquired under finance leases (Note 22). 
 
As at 31 December 2015, certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with a net carrying amount totalling 
S$191,511,000 had been pledged to secure bank borrowings for a subsidiary (Note 21). 
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18 Deferred Tax 

  Group  Company 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Deferred tax assets 4,880  5,416  -  - 
 Deferred tax liabilities (2,116)  (1,989)  -  - 
 Net carrying amount 2,764  3,427  -  - 
     
 

Group 

  Investment 
properties and 
property, plant 
and equipment  

Unremitted 
retained 
earnings  Total 

    S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)        
 Balance at 1.1.2016   5,416  (1,989)  3,427 
 Charged to income statement 

(Note 10)   (287)  (127)  (414) 
 Currency realignment   (249)  -  (249) 
 Balance at 31.12.2016   4,880  (2,116)  2,764 
         
 Balance at 1.1.2015   5,585  (2,106)  3,479 
 (Charged)/Credited to income 

statement (Note 10)   (302)  117  (185) 
 Currency realignment   133  -  133 
 Balance at 31.12.2015   5,416  (1,989)  3,427 
         

 
The Group recognised deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences attributable to investment 
properties and property, plant and equipment, as the directors believe it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the Group can utilise the benefit therefrom.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, deferred tax liabilities of S$2,116,000 (2015: S$1,989,000) have been recognised for 
taxes that would be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC as 
the Group has determined that the distributable earnings of its subsidiaries will be distributed in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
At the end of the reporting period, a subsidiary has unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting against 
future taxable profits amounting to S$11,218,000 (2015: S$10,125,000). The availability of the unrecognised tax 
losses for set-off against future taxable profits is subject to the tax regulations of the country in which the 
subsidiary is incorporated. The tax losses have no expiry period. The deferred tax benefit arising from these 
unrecognised tax losses of S$1,907,000 (2015: S$1,721,000) has not been recognised in the financial 
statements. 
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19 Deferred Charges 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 Cost        
 At the beginning of the year 1,859  1,816  -  - 
 Currency realignment (86)  43  -  - 
 At the end of the year 1,773  1,859  -  - 
         
 Accumulated amortisation        
 At the beginning of the year 1,160  1,104  -  - 
 Amortisation charged to general and 

administrative expenses  28  30  -  - 
 Currency realignment (54)  26  -  - 
 At the end of the year 1,134  1,160  -  - 
         
 Net carrying amount 639  699  -  - 

 
 
20 Trade and Other Payables 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Trade payables  3,939  3,156  -  - 
 Due to third parties 6,739  5,210  -  - 
 Other taxes payable 1,297  725  -  - 
 Rental deposit received 7,375  6,321  -  - 
 Accrued expenses 3,134  3,312  296  283 
 Others 52  54  3  3 
  22,536  18,778  299  286 
 Rental advances received 7,071  7,765  -  - 
  29,607  26,543  299  286 

 
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

  Group  Company 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 RMB 28,651  25,633  -  - 
 USD 10  48  -  - 
 SGD 931  857  299  286 
 Others 15  5  -  - 
  29,607  26,543  299  286 
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21 Borrowings  

 Group  Company 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Bank loan denominated in USD -  56,624  -  - 

 
The above secured bank loan was fully repaid in the current financial year.  As at 31 December 2015, this loan 
was secured by certain property, plant and equipment of the Group (Note 17) and incurred interest at rates 
ranging from 1.5% – 1.9% per annum.  

 
 
22 Obligations under Finance Lease 
 

Group 
 

Minimum lease payments 
 Present value of  

minimum lease payments 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 Finance lease payable:        
 Less than 1 year 78  21  70  19 
 Within 1 to 5 years 261  25  233  22 
  339  46  303  41 
 Less: Future finance charges (36)  (5)     
 Present value of lease obligation 303  41     
         
 Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 

months   (70)  (19) 
 Amount due for settlement after 12 months   233  22 
         
 Net book value of assets under finance lease   614  6 
         
 Effective interest rate per annum     4.68%  3.65% 
 
 
23 Long-Term Liabilities 
  Group  Company 

  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 Rental deposits received denominated 

in RMB 6,607  8,283  -  - 
 Deferred income denominated in USD 3,473  3,539  -  - 
  10,080  11,822  -  - 

 
Deferred income represents pre-operation contribution received. 
 
The fair value of rental deposits received is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts, as the amounts will 
not be materially different when the Group discharges its obligation upon expiration of the relevant leases. 
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24 Share Capital and Treasury Shares 
     
 Group and Company    

  No. of ordinary shares  Amount 
  Issued share 

capital 
 Treasury 

shares 
 Share 

capital 
 Treasury 

shares 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Balance as at 1.1.2016 3,041,959,440  (6,887,000)  105,784  (1,498) 
 Share consolidation (2,281,470,304)  5,165,250  -  - 
 Transfer of treasury shares to 

affected shareholders pursuant 
to the rounding consolidation 723  723  -  - 

 Balance as at 31.12.2016 760,489,859  (1,721,027)  105,784  (1,498) 
         
 Balance as at 1.1.2015 3,041,959,440  (5,711,000)  105,784  (1,262) 
 Treasury shares purchased -  (1,176,000)  -  (236) 
 Balance as at 31.12.2015 3,041,959,440  (6,887,000)  105,784  (1,498) 

 
During the current financial year, the Company undertook a share consolidation exercise, where every four (4) 
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.025 each in the authorised and issued share capital of the Company 
were consolidated into one (1) ordinary share with a par value of US$0.10 each. This was approved by 
shareholders at the Special General Meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2016.  Pursuant to the rounding 
consolidation where fractions are rounded up to the next full unit as described in the circular to shareholders 
dated 1 April 2016, 723 consolidated shares held as treasury shares were transferred to affected shareholders 
who had a resulting fraction of a consolidated share.  Following the completion of the share consolidation, which 
became effective on 6 May 2016, the number of issued ordinary shares of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) was reduced to 758,768,832.   
 
During the previous financial year, the Company acquired 1,176,000 of its own shares in the open market. Total 
amount paid to acquire the shares was S$236,000 and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ 
equity. 
 
The holder of ordinary shares, except for treasury shares, is entitled to receive dividends as declared from time 
to time and is entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. All shares, except for treasury shares, 
rank equally with regards to the Company’s residual assets.  

 
 
25 Asset Revaluation Reserve 
 

The asset revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of the Group’s investment properties and hotel 
properties classified as property, plant and equipment prior to the restructuring exercise in 2010. When the 
revalued properties are sold, the portion of the revaluation reserve that relates to that asset, and is effectively 
realised, is transferred directly to retained earnings. 

 
 
26 Merger Reserve 
 

Pursuant to a restructuring exercise in 2010, the Company acquired the interest in its subsidiaries and loans for 
an aggregate consideration of S$410,665,000. This consideration was satisfied in full by the allotment and 
issuance of 1,520,979,718 ordinary shares of US$0.05 each by the Company at an issue price of S$0.27 per 
share. The difference of the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of 
the Company’s shares, has been taken to shareholders’ equity as “Merger Reserve” and adjusted accordingly in 
the financial statements. 
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27 Dividends 
    Group and Company 

      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Interim dividend for 2016 of S$0.031 (2015: Nil) per share  23,522  - 
 Final dividend for 2015 of S$0.043 (2014: Nil) per share  32,627  - 
   56,149  - 

 
 
28 Related Party Transactions 
 

(a) A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting entity. A person is considered to be 
related if that person has the ability to control or jointly control the reporting entity, exercise significant 
influence over the reporting entity in making financial and operating decisions, or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the reporting entity or its parent. An entity is related to the reporting entity if they 
are members of the same group, and associate or a joint venture. An entity is considered to be related if it 
is controlled or jointly controlled by the same person who has significant influence over the reporting entity 
or is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity. An entity is also considered 
related if the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the reporting entity. 

 
(b) The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 
 

    Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Directors of the holding company    2,844  2,731 
 Other key management personnel    1,168  1,320 
      4,012  4,051 

 
Included in the above remuneration are post-employment benefits of S$103,706 (2015: S$113,628) for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

 
(c) In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant 

transactions with related parties, on terms agreed between parties, were as follows: 
 
    Group 

      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Rental income from related parties    -  2,119 

 



76

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016

 
29 Segment Information 

 
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different services based on reports 
reviewed by the Executive Committee. They are managed separately because each business unit requires 
different marketing strategies. Set out below are the Group’s reportable segments: 
 
Hotel    – ownership of hotel which is under the management of Westin Hotel Management, L.P; and 
Property leasing  – ownership and leasing of investment properties. 
 
Other operations include the investment holding and corporate office. Segment information about these 
businesses is presented below: 

 
 Hotel  

Property 
Leasing  

Others/ 
Eliminations  Total 

 Group S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 2016        
 Revenue        
 Revenue from external customers 66,083  63,199  -  129,282 
         
 Adjusted EBITDA 21,962  50,328  (3,963)  68,327 
 Other Information        
 Capital expenditure 699  281  910  1,890 
 Depreciation and amortisation 

expenses 9,253  12,637  144  22,034 
 Interest income 3  1,929  91  2,023 
 Interest expense -  269  10  279 
         
 Assets        
 Segment assets 182,714  290,835  429,322  902,871 
         
 Liabilities        
 Segment liabilities 9,684  57,326  405,960  472,970 

         
 2015        

 Revenue        
 Revenue from external customers 68,718  71,850  -  140,568 
         
 Adjusted EBITDA 20,227  55,641  (4,050)  71,818 
 Other Information        
 Capital expenditure 433  194  20  647 
 Depreciation and amortisation 

expenses 9,724  13,320  50  23,094 
 Interest income 4  2,956  46  3,006 
 Interest expense -  931  2  933 
         
 Assets        
 Segment assets 198,941  381,203  511,644  1,091,788 
         
 Liabilities        
 Segment liabilities 8,736  147,787  456,483  613,006 

 
Adjusted earnings before interest income/(expenses), income tax, foreign exchange loss, depreciation and 
amortisation and exceptional items (“adjusted EBITDA”) represents profit earned by each segment. This is the 
manner reported to the Executive Committee, which is the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance. 
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29 Segment Information (cont’d) 

 
A reconciliation of total adjusted EBITDA to total profit before income tax is as follows: 

      Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
      
 Adjusted EBITDA for reportable segments  72,290  75,868 
 Other adjusted EBITDA  (3,963)  (4,050) 
 Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (22,034)  (23,094) 
 Net foreign exchange loss  (2,302)  (5,381) 
 Interest income  2,023  3,006 
 Interest expense  (279)  (933) 
 Profit before income tax  45,735  45,416 

 
A reconciliation of total assets for reportable segments to total assets is as follows: 

      Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
      
 Total assets for reportable segments   473,549  580,144 
 Other assets  429,322  511,644 
 Elimination of inter-segment receivables  (423,256)  (510,329) 
 Total assets  479,615  581,459 

 
A reconciliation of total liabilities for reportable segments to total liabilities is as follows: 

      Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
      
 Total liabilities for reportable segments   67,010  156,523 
 Other liabilities  405,960  456,483 
 Elimination of inter-segment payables  (423,256)  (510,329) 
 Total liabilities  49,714  102,677 

 
No segment information by geographical location has been presented as the Group’s activities are primarily carried 
out in the PRC. No information about major customers has been presented as there is no single external 
customer contributing more than 10% to the Group’s revenue. 

 
 
30 Financial Instruments 

 
(a) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year, which include cash 
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, short-term borrowings, receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities. 
 
The fair value of finance leases approximates the present value of payments as disclosed in Note 22 to the 
financial statements.  
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30 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 

 
(b) Fair Value Hierarchy 
 
The following table presents financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and classified 
by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
 
(i) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
(ii) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
(iii) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000  S$’000 
 At 31 December 2016        
 Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 1,132  -  -  1,132 
  

At 31 December 2015        
 Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 1,305  -  -  1,305 
 
 
31 Operating Lease Commitments 
 

(a) The Group as a lessee 
 
The Group leases retail and office premises from non-related parties under non-cancellable operating leases 
agreement. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The future minimum lease 
payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

    Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Within 1 year     732  1,250 
 Between 1 year to 5 years     -  762 
         
 Minimum lease payments made under operating leases  1,197  2,131 

 
(b) The Group as a lessor 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the total committed rental income in respect of operating leases for the rental 
of investment properties to third parties are as follows: 
 

    Group 
      2016  2015 
      S$’000  S$’000 
         
 Within 1 year     48,932  51,302 
 Between 1 year to 5 years     44,808  66,667 

 
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 
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AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL : US$500,000,000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL 
(INCLUDING TREASURY SHARES)

: US$76,048,986 (S$105,784,139.53)

NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED 
(EXCLUDING TREASURY SHARES) 

: 758,768,832

NUMBER/PERCENTAGE OF TREASURY SHARES : 1,721,027 / 0.23%

CLASS OF SHARES : Ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.10 each

VOTING RIGHTS : One vote per share. The Company cannot exercise any voting 
rights in respect of shares held by it as treasury shares.

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. Of Shares %

1 - 99 403 5.50 22,085 0.00

100 - 1,000 3,368 46.00 1,775,984 0.23

1,001 - 10,000 3,034 41.44 9,461,404 1.25

10,001 - 1,000,000 507 6.92 23,572,321 3.11

1,000,001 & ABOVE 10 0.14 723,937,038 95.41

TOTAL 7,322 100.00 758,768,832 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholders No. of shares %

FLAMBO BUND CENTRE LTD. 637,344,964 84.00

UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 38,956,745 5.13

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 26,303,224 3.47

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 8,941,999 1.18

RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 5,782,500 0.76

DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,558,969 0.21

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,468,463 0.19

DIANAWATI TJENDERA 1,250,000 0.17

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,241,099 0.16

LIM POH KENG (LIN BAOQING) 1,089,075 0.14

HONG PIAN TEE 974,100 0.13

COSMIC INSURANCE CORPORATION LIMITED – SIF 782,750 0.10

DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD 759,635 0.10

CHEE SWEE HENG 612,500 0.08

MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 584,904 0.08

OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 570,781 0.08

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 496,266 0.06

LOH MAY-LING 439,400 0.06

LOH WEI-LING 439,400 0.06

ANG HAO YAO 386,426 0.05

Total 729,983,200  96.21
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

No. of Shares in which they have an Interest

Name
Direct 

Interest
Percentage(1)

(%)
Deemed 
Interest

Percentage(1)

(%)

Total Percentage(1) 
(Direct and Deemed 

Interest)
(%)

FLAMBO BUND CENTRE LTD. 

(“FlamboBC”)
637,344,964 84.00 – – 84.00

WFMT3 Foundation(2) (“WFMT3”) – – 637,344,964 84.00 84.00

Note:

(1) Percentage calculated based on 758,768,832 issued shares (excluding treasury shares). 
(2) The deemed interest of WFMT3 arises from its interest in 637,344,964 shares held by FlamboBC in the Company.

Based on the information available to the Company as at 9 March 2017, approximately 16% of the issued ordinary shares 
of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited is complied with.

SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS
AS AT 9 MARCH 2017
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

BUND CENTER INVESTMENT LTD
(Incorporated in Bermuda)

(Company Registration Number: 43449)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Bund Center Investment Ltd (the “Company”) will be 
held on Tuesday, 25 April 2017 at 4.30 p.m. at PARKROYAL on Beach Road, Grand Ballroom, Level 1, 7500 Beach 
Road, Singapore 199591 to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS 

1.	 	To	receive	and	adopt	 the	audited	financial	statements	 for	 the	year	ended	31	December	2016	 together	with	 the	
Directors’ and Auditors’ reports thereon. (Resolution 1)

2.  To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$272,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016. (FY2015: S$266,000)
       (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws of the Company:

 (a) Mr. Chew Yow Foo {please see note 1} (Resolution 3)
 (b) Mr. Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan {please see note 2} (Resolution 4)

4.	 	To	 re-appoint	Moore	Stephens	 LLP	as	 the	Auditors	 of	 the	Company	 and	 to	 authorise	 the	Directors	 to	 fix	 their	
remuneration.     (Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

5.	 	To	consider	 and,	 if	 thought	 fit,	 to	pass	with	or	without	 any	amendments,	 the	 following	 resolutions	as	Ordinary	
Resolutions:

Renewal of the Share Issue Mandate

5A.  “That, pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (the “SGX-ST”): 

 (1)  authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to (a) issue shares in the capital of 
the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and/or (b) make or grant offers, 
agreements or options (collectively, the “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued, 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or 
other instruments convertible into Shares, at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes	and	to	such	persons	as	the	Directors	may,	in	their	absolute	discretion,	deem	fit;	and	

 (2)  the authority conferred by this Resolution shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by 
which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, 
provided that (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force) authority be given to the Directors of the Company to issue Shares in pursuance of any Instruments 
made	or	granted	by	the	Directors	of	the	Company	while	this	Resolution	was	in	force;
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  provided further that:

  (i)  the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to such authority (including Shares to be 
issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority) does not exceed 
fifty	percent	(50%)	of	the	total	number	of	issued	Shares	(excluding	treasury	shares)	(as	calculated	in	
accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued 
other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty percent 
(20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance 
with	sub-paragraph	(ii)	below);

  (ii)  for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-
paragraph (i) above, the total number of issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

	 	 	 (aa)	 new	Shares	arising	from	the	conversion	or	exercise	of	any	convertible	securities;

   (bb)  new Shares arising from the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards issued 
and/or granted by the Company which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution 
is passed (provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with the SGX-ST’s 
Listing	Manual);	and

	 	 	 (cc)	 any	subsequent	bonus	issue,	consolidation	or	subdivision	of	Shares;

    and, in relation to an Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would 
have been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or effected on the date of the making or 
granting	of	the	Instrument;	and

  (iii)  in exercising the authority so conferred, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the SGX-
ST’s Listing Manual for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-
ST) and the Bye-laws for the time being of the Company.” {please see note 3}  (Resolution 6)

Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

5B. “That:

 (a)   the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise 
acquire issued ordinary shares (“Shares”) in the share capital of the Company not exceeding in aggregate 
the	Prescribed	Limit	(as	hereafter	defined),	at	such	price	or	prices	as	may	be	determined	by	the	Directors	
from	time	to	time	up	to	the	Maximum	Price	(as	hereafter	defined),	whether	by	way	of:

  (i)  market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”);	and/or

  (ii)  off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected in accordance with any equal 
access	schemes	as	may	be	determined	or	formulated	by	the	Directors	as	they	consider	fit,	which	
schemes shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, 

   and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations of Singapore and Bermuda and the rules of 
the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally 
and unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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 (b)  unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of the 
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from 
time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

  (i)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date on which the next Annual General 
Meeting	of	the	Company	is	required	by	law	to	be	held;	or

	 	 (ii)	 the	date	on	which	the	share	purchases	are	carried	out	to	the	full	extent	mandated;	or

	 	 (iii)	 the	date	on	which	the	authority	contained	in	the	Share	Purchase	Mandate	is	varied	or	revoked;

 (c) in this Resolution:

   “Prescribed Limit”	means	five	per	cent.	(5%)	of	the	issued	ordinary	Share	capital	of	the	Company	(excluding	
treasury	shares)	as	at	the	date	of	the	passing	of	this	Resolution;	and

   “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

  (i) in the case of a Market Purchase: 105% of the Average Closing Price 

  (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price

  where:

   “Average Closing Price”	means	 the	average	of	 the	closing	market	prices	of	a	Share	over	 the	 last	five	
market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase 
and	deemed	to	be	adjusted	for	any	corporate	action	that	occurs	after	the	relevant	five-day	period;	

   “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the market day 
on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant 
to	the	Off-Market	Purchase;	and

   “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make 
an offer for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders stating the purchase price (which shall not be more 
than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the 
equal	access	scheme	for	effecting	the	Off-Market	Purchase;	and

 (d)   the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things 
(including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to 
give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.” {please see note 4} (Resolution 7)

Renewal of the Interested Person Transactions Mandate

5C. “That:

 (a)  approval be and is hereby given, for the purpose of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”) of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated 
companies that are considered to be “entities at risk” under Chapter 9, or any of them, to enter into any of 
the transactions falling within the types of interested person transactions, particulars of which are set out 
in Appendix 2 to this Notice of Annual General Meeting {please see note 5}, with any party who is of the 
class of interested persons described in Appendix 2, provided that such transactions are made on normal 
commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures for such interested person transactions as 
set out in Appendix 2 (the “IPT Mandate”);

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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 (b)  the IPT Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until 
the	next	Annual	General	Meeting	of	the	Company;	and	

 (c)  the Directors of the Company and each of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including, without limitation, executing all such documents as may be required) as they 
or he/she may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the IPT 
Mandate and/or this Resolution.” {please see note 6} (Resolution 8)

By Order of the Board

Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 
Director 
4 April 2017
Singapore 

Notes:

(i)  If a Depositor whose name appears in the Depository Register wishes to attend and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting, he must be shown to have shares of the Company entered against his name in the Depository Register, 
as	certified	by	The	Central	Depository	(Pte)	Limited,	not	less	than	48	hours	before	the	time	appointed	for	the	holding	
of the Annual General Meeting. 

(ii)  Individual depositors who are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting personally and who wish to appoint their 
nominee(s) to attend and vote on their behalf, and Depositors who are not individuals, should complete, sign and 
return the proxy form which is despatched together with this Annual Report to Depositors (the “Depositor Proxy 
Form”) in accordance with the instructions printed thereon as soon as possible and in any event, so as to reach the 
mailing address of the Company at c/o 3 Shenton Way, #17-07 Shenton House, Singapore 068805, no later than 
48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting in order to be able to attend and/
or vote at the Annual General Meeting. 

(iii)  If a registered holder of Shares (“Shareholder”) wishes to appoint a proxy or proxies, then the enclosed Shareholder 
Proxy Form (“Shareholder Proxy Form”) must be completed, signed and deposited at the mailing address of the 
Company at c/o 3 Shenton Way, #17-07 Shenton House, Singapore 068805, no later than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting in order for the Shareholder’s proxy or proxies to be able 
to attend and/or vote at the Annual General Meeting. 

(iv)  The completion and return of a Depositor Proxy Form or a Shareholder Proxy Form will not preclude the Depositor 
or Shareholder concerned from attending and voting in person at the Annual General Meeting if he wishes to do so, 
in place of his proxy. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Additional Notes relating to the Notice of Annual General Meeting:

1.  Please refer to the sections on Board of Directors and Corporate Governance Report in the Annual Report 2016 for 
further information on Mr. Chew Yow Foo.

2.  Mr. Willy Shee Ping Yah @ Shee Ping Yan will, if re-elected, remain as a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Shee 
is considered to be independent. Please refer to the sections on Board of Directors and Corporate Governance 
Report in the Annual Report 2016 for further information on Mr. Shee.

3.  Resolution 6 in item 5A above will, if passed, empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares 
pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares in 
the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders.

  For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be 
calculated based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) 
at the time Resolution 6 is passed, after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any 
convertible securities or the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 
subsisting at the time when Resolution 6 is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision 
of shares.

4.  Resolution 7 in item 5B above will, if passed, renew for another year, up to the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, the mandate for share purchase as described in Appendix 1 to this Notice of Annual General Meeting, 
which will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual 
General Meeting. 

5.  The mandate for transactions with Interested Persons as described in Appendix 2 to this Notice of Annual General 
Meeting	includes	the	placement	of	deposits	by	the	Company	with	financial	institutions	in	which	interested	persons	
have an interest.

6.  Resolution 8 in item 5C above, if passed, is to renew for another year, up to the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company, the mandate for transactions with interested persons as described in Appendix 2, which will, unless 
previously revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure 
of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by 
the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any 
adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating 
to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to 
comply	with	any	applicable	 laws,	 listing	 rules,	 regulations	and/or	guidelines	 (collectively,	 the	“Purposes”);	 (ii)	warrants	
that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company 
(or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, 
use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for 
the	Purposes;	and	(iii)	agrees	that	the	member	will	indemnify	the	Company	in	respect	of	any	penalties,	liabilities,	claims,	
demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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